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Preface



This book tells how a small party of well-led adventurers fought against a large static monarchy. It is also a study of a clash between two empires. Both were imaginative and inventive. Though different, they had some things in common: they held many things sacred, they had conquered others, they loved ceremonial. Both were by most modern standards cruel, but cultivated. Both intermittently dreamed of conquering what they thought of as “the world”. Both were possessed by powerful beliefs which their leaders looked on as complete explanations of human life.


The Spanish invasion of Mexico was a continuation of the conquests which began in 1492 after Columbus’ first journey. Hernán Cortés, the Spanish commander, had lived in both Hispaniola and Cuba. All the members of his expedition had been for a time in those islands. A few of them had been elsewhere on the mainland, near Panama, before they went to what is now Mexico.


The peoples of Mexico were in 1519 ruled by a monarchy of greater sophistication than were the little chieftainships of the Caribbean before Columbus. The Aztecs – or, as I prefer to call them, the Mexica (the reason is explained in the Notes, p. xix) – had many qualities. They were well organised. Old Mexico was very like a state. One conquistador thought that their houses were superior to those of Spain. Upper-class Mexicans wore embroidered clothes. Their craftsmen made jewellery which astonished the Europeans. Being largely urban, they could provide something like universal education: at least to boys who were the children neither of serfs nor of slaves.


In the sixteenth century, the Spaniards still generally used the Roman system of numbering, including their fractions, rather than the more helpful decimal which the Arabs, thanks to the Hindus, had introduced many years before. The Mexicans had the vigesimal method, as well as the zero, which enabled calculations on a more accurate basis than was possible in Europe.


A controversy about the ethics of the Spaniards’ imperial mission had been engaged even before the discovery of Mexico, because of the soul-searching of several Dominican friars who had seen the empire in the Caribbean. The arguments seem today remote and dry. Yet no other European empire, neither the Roman, the French, nor the British, entered upon such discussions about the purposes of their expansion. The arguments continued. In 1770, the Marquis of Moncada sent a friend in France a beautiful ancient painted book, probably from Puebla, now known as the Map of Quinatzin. He wrote, “You will judge for yourself if they [the Mexicans] were barbarous at that time when their country, their goods and their mines were stolen from them; or whether we were”.1


The morality of the Mexica is suggested by a passage in the Florentine Codex: where it is shown that, at least in theory, they admired many of the things which Christian gentlemen were supposed to in Europe: “thrift, compassion, sincerity, carefulness, orderliness, energy, watchfulness, hard work, obedience, humility, grace, discretion, good memory, modesty, courage and resolution”; while they despised “laziness, negligence, lack of compassion, unreliability, untruthfulness, sullenness, dullness, squandering, deceit, pilfering”, and even “agitation, disrespect and treachery”.


One element in the practices of the ancient Mexicans caused them to seem even to Spanish friars to be barbarians, and therefore in special need of salvation. That was human sacrifice. For Spaniards in Mexico, the evidence of human sacrifice removed all doubts about the morality of the invasion mounted by Cortés, at least until the conquest was over.


Today we are all, as it were, Gibbonians. Different modes of worship seem to most of us as equally true, to our philosophers as equally false, and to our anthropologists as equally interesting. Every culture, Jacques Soustelle (author of a masterpiece about the daily life of the Mexica) reminded us, has its own ideas of what is, and what is not, cruel; adding that human sacrifice in old Mexico was inspired neither by cruelty nor by hatred: it was “a response to the instability of a continually threatened world”. Every people, it is now generally supposed, has its own right to conduct itself as its national customs provide.


Still, even now one would have to have a strong stomach to accept with a purely anthropological judgement all the manifestations of human sacrifice: not just the tearing out of the hearts of prisoners of war or slaves, but the wearing by priests of the skins of the victims (inside out) as a ceremonial uniform, the occasional throwing of victims into a fire, the incarceration or drowning of children, and finally the ceremonial eating of the arms and legs of the victims. How can we judge the Matlatzinca, who sacrificed people by slowly crushing them in a net? Are we really content to see the victims as “bathers in an early dawn”? Babies in arms, “human standard-bearers”, were brutally made to cry, to ensure that the god of rain, Tlaloc, seeing the tears, made no mistake about the nature of what was required. Later on, the Anglo-Saxons in North America seized upon the action of scalping as a justification of conquest. The conquistadors judged human sacrifice similarly. Whether it should be described as a good reason for the conquest would take us into detail inappropriate for a preface.


Neither Cortés nor Columbus, nor any other conquistador, entered a static, timeless and peaceful world of innocents. The Tainos whom Columbus encountered seemed happy. But they had themselves once come to the Caribbean islands as conquerors and had driven out, or rather had driven into the west end of Cuba, the primitive inhabitants, the so-called Guanahatabeys (also known as Casimiroids). They themselves were menaced by the Caribs who, coming from the South American mainland, had been fighting their way up the lesser Antilles. The Caribs had already conquered the so-called Igneri culture in what are now called the Windward Islands, and were beginning to threaten the Leewards, perhaps even Puerto Rico.


The Mayas in Yucatan whom Cortés and his fellow conquistadors visited, and whom expeditions led by the Montejo family eventually conquered, have now been shown to have been warlike even during their golden age. The Mexica were the successors of several warrior peoples who had ruled in the Valley of Mexico. Their own empire had been established by military conquest. The Spaniards in their opposition to old Mexico were given decisive support by Indian allies, who hated the Mexica. The Spanish were, of course, conquerors, as were, in their day, the Vikings, the Goths, the Romans (whom they admired), the Arabs, the Macedonian Greeks, the Persians, to mention only a few of those who preceded them; or the English, the Dutch, the French, the Germans and the Russians, to mention some who followed them. Like most of those other warriors, and like those, principally other Europeans, who would come after them, they carried ideas with them.


The Spanish had unbounded confidence in their own qualities, in the political wisdom of their imperial mission, and in the spiritual superiority of the Catholic church. “O what great good fortune for the Indians is the coming of the Spaniards,” the historian Cervantes de Salazar would say in 1554, “since they have passed from this unhappiness to their present blessed state”.2 “O, the strange bestiality of these people,” the Dominican friar Durán would write, towards the end of the century, “in many things they have good discipline, government, understanding, capacity and polish but, in others, strange bestiality and blindness.”3 The declared aim of the conquistadors was to end the bestiality and build on the capacity. Cortés and his friends did not mean to destroy old Mexico. Their purpose was to hand it over, as a present, a “precious feather”, as Mexicans, who used many such metaphors, would have said, to the Emperor Charles V, the most reliable “sword of Christianity”.


Europeans in the sixteenth century knew nothing of those ideas which render our sentiment of justice timid and hesitant, wrote the great Dutch historian Huizinga: doubts as to the criminal’s responsibility, the conviction that society is the accomplice of the criminal, the desire to reform, rather than inflict pain: these notions existed among neither the Castilians nor the Mexicans. Thus Soustelle, a great friend of old Mexico, was right when he admitted in an interview in the 1960s that “the Spaniards could not have acted otherwise. And we mustn’t forget the efforts which some Spaniards made to record and defend; or that they made possible the society in which Indian life was to re-awaken.”4


One friend, on reading an early draft of this book, suggested that to give Cortés the benefit of the doubt on several occasions was to allow oneself tolerance towards the memory of Himmler in 1942. We can all see what he generously meant. Yet two of the best scholars of modern Mexico, Miguel León-Portilla, the great Mexican historian, and Rudolph van Zantwijk, the Dutch anthropologist, talking of the military life which the ancient Mexicans extolled, have dared to compare them with the Nazis.5 All such comparisons are interesting. Yet to read into the past the morality of our time (or the lack of it) may not make the historian’s task any easier.


*


It may be said that this is a subject which has been recorded before; in the United States, incomparably, by the great Prescott, in Europe by Salvador de Madariaga, and in Mexico by Carlos Peyrera. I need not devote attention to every one of these and other writers who have written of this subject. Most people who write of interesting subjects of long ago have predecessors. Did not Wilde think that the only thing to do with history was to rewrite it? Both Peyrera and Madariaga wrote biographies of Cortés. So more recently have José Luis Martínez and Demetrio Ramos. That is not what I intended. Prescott is a different matter.


Prescott was a marvellous man. He wrote magnificently. Who can forget his description of how a modern traveller, standing on top of the pyramid of Cholula, can see several hundred churches where Cortés could in 1519 have seen the same number of temples? Prescott’s book was used as a guide by United States officers in the Mexican War of 1848: an astonishing achievement for any historian, even more so for one who was almost blind. It is moving to read of Prescott’s decision to make himself a historian, his victory over so many physical handicaps, and his “noctograph”, which he devised so as to be able to write; of his imaginings, in letters to Fanny Calderón de la Barca, as to how the country looked outside Texcoco; and of his delightful conversation, in his house on Beacon Street, Boston – a residence still to be admired. It is fine to hear of his morning rides, his triumphant visit to London, his philanthropy, his generosity, and his charm as a man. Yet Prescott published his work on Mexico in 1843, a hundred and fifty years ago. His history stands as a monument of its own, to be admired as part of its age, as if it were a neo-Gothic cathedral. The tone is of another era.


In Prescott’s cathedral, some of the stonework also seems less secure than it once did. For there are some matters where a modern historian has an advantage over the great Bostonian. Since 1843 much new material has been found. To take only one example: Prescott regarded the long enquiry into Cortés’ conduct of affairs, the juicio de residencia, which began work in 1529, and to the study of which I myself have devoted many worthwhile hours, as beneath his attention. Yet Prescott only knew a summary of the charges (the pesquisa secreta). Even that, he seems to have thought, contained “a mass of loathsome details such as might better suit a prosecution in a petty municipal court than that of a great officer of the crown”.6 This judgement is mistaken, even if one takes Cortés’ point of view.


The 6,000 manuscript pages of the residencia, though often repetitious, tedious and irrelevant, contain information on almost every aspect of the conquest and its aftermath. They cannot be merely dismissed. They raise the number of eyewitness accounts of what happened from ten or so (Cortés himself, Bernal Díaz, Fr. Aguilar, Andrés de Tapia, “the Anonymous Conquistador”, and one or two identified people who talked to the historians Cervantes de Salazar, Bartolomé de Las Casas and Fernández de Oviedo) to over a hundred. How often the transcribed report of the residencia, in its difficult procesal hand, has a witness being asked how he knew such and such: “he replied,” the text enticingly reads, that he “was there and saw it all”!


Much of this material is fragmentary and biased, either for or against Hernán Cortés. All the same it is testimony made on oath, in Mexico, between 1529 and 1535, by participants in the great expedition. Some of these statements were published in the nineteenth century, though after Prescott had finished his work. A little more has been published since (for example, by José Luis Martínez, in his most helpful volumes of Documentos Cortesianos). But many folios of unpublished and, so far as I can see, unconsulted documents have remained in the Archivo General de Indias in Seville. I have studied them.


Much other relevant material has also come to light since Prescott wrote. I have examined the juicio de residencia of 1524 against Diego Velázquez, Cortés’ one-time superior, the Spanish governor of Cuba, also to my knowledge never used. I have also looked at papers relating to Cortés’ master boat-builder, Martín López, collected by G. L. R. Conway (and rather curiously distributed by him in Washington, Cambridge and Aberdeen). There is in the Archivo de Protocolos in Seville unpublished material relating to Cortés, including a letter to the master of the ship which took him to Mexico, as well as a document which suggests that Cortés left Spain for the first time two years later than has been generally supposed. At the great national archive in Simancas there are papers relating to the life of Cortés’ birthplace, Medellín, in the 1480s and 1490s, suggesting that the conquistador’s childhood was passed in a most explosive society. There are available, too, numerous unpublished statements of services by conquistadors, as well as testimonies in other lawsuits, made so frequently in the middle years of the sixteenth century that it seems that testifying about the past must have been the main activity of conquistadors once the conquest was over.


At the same time, many scholars have written monographs which, taken altogether, and considered alongside the new material which I have unearthed, should change our picture of Spain and its empire in the early sixteenth century.


There is another side to this: Prescott, like most people of his generation, was a little disdainful of the indigenous culture of old Mexico. “I have had hard work in dressing up the remains of Aztec civilisation,” Prescott wrote in 1840 to a French friend.7 But here too the situation has been transformed. Prescott was a contemporary of John Lloyd Stephens and Frederick Catherwood. Their work demonstrating that Maya civilisation was in many ways comparable to that of ancient Greece appeared only in 1841 and 1843, while Prescott was actually at work. The world of old Mexico, in respect of both Yucatan and the Valley of Mexico, has since then been illuminated by the discovery, and publication, of much new primary material. An immense secondary literature, the work of innumerable scholars in many disciplines (anthropology, archaeology and the social sciences, as well as history, literature and even archaeo-astronomy) has grown up.


I should perhaps say here that I have treated the works of Fr. Diego Durán, Fr. Sahagún, Fernando Alvarado Tezozomoc and Fernando Alva Ixthlxochitl (see Sources) as historians of the first importance.


I record my gratitude for the help of numerous people: first, to Teresa Alzugaray, a specialist in procesal handwriting, who made light of work which, had it been left to me, would have taken me a lifetime. It was said of the Spaniards that their war with Granada would have lasted ten years beyond 1492 if they had not possessed cannon. Señorita Alzugaray has thus been my culverin. Her transcriptions, under my direction, of documents in the Archivo General de Indias, the Archivo de Protocolos de Sevilla, the Archivo General de Simancas, and elsewhere, have been invaluable.


I thank Nina Evans, the superintendent of the Reading Room of the British Library, and her wonderful staff, for their trouble; Rosario Parra, until recently Director of the Archivo General de Indias, Seville, and her staff; Douglas Matthews, Librarian of the London Library, who also made the Index; the Cambridge University Library; the Bodleian Library; Professor Nicholas Mann and the staff of the Warburg Institute; the library of the Institute for Pre-Colombian Studies at Dumbarton Oaks, Washington DC (Bridget Toledo); Dr James Billington, the Librarian of Congress, and Everette Larson and the staff of the Hispanic Division; Isabel Simó, Director of the Archivo Histórico Provincial in Seville; Antonio López Gómez, Librarian of the Real Academia de la Historia, Madrid; Enriqueta Vila, until recently Director of the Anuario de Estudios Americanos; Antonio Sánchez González, Director of the Archives, Casa de Pilatos; Roger Morgan and David Jones, Librarians of the House of Lords; and the Directors of the Archivo Histórico Nacional, Madrid; of the Archivo Nacional, Simancas (including Isabel Aguirre); Jaime García Terres, Director of the Biblioteca de México; Dr. Judith Licea, Co-ordinator of the Biblioteca National de Mexico; Manuel Ramos, Director of the Biblioteca de CONDUMEX, Mexico; and Licenciado Leonor Ortiz, Director of the Archivo General de la Nación, Mexico.


My work, like that of everybody working on the history of the discovery of America, has been made much easier by the provision by Historia 16 of a new, admirably printed collection of most of the basic Spanish and indigenous texts, many of them excellently introduced by Dr Germán Vázquez.


I should like to thank several people, other than those directors of libraries, etc., already mentioned, with whom I have had conversations on the theme of this book. These include Professor José Pérez de Tudela, who enabled me to consult the Juan Bautista Muñoz and Salazar collections in the Real Academia de la Historia, Madrid; María Concepción García Sáiz, of the Museo de América, Madrid; Homero and Betty Aridjis; Professor John Elliott; Professor Juan Gil; Professor Francis Haskell; Professor Miguel León-Portilla; José Luis Martínez; Professor Francisco Morales Padrón; Professor Mauricio Obregón; Professor Julian Pitt-Rivers; Marita Martínez del Río de Redo; Guillermo Tovar de Teresa; Professor Consuelo Varela; Professor Edward Cooper (genealogy and Medellín); Dr Richard Emanuel; Mr Howard Philips (glass); Felipe Fernández-Armesto (especially ballads); Mr Joel McCreary (sacred mushrooms); Owen Mostyn-Owen (comets); Conchita Romero (portable altars); Sir Crispin Tickell (volcanoes); and Zahira Véliz (sixteenth-century iconography).


I am, too, most grateful to my son, Isambard, for his invaluable help with my computer; to my wife, Vanessa, for reading the manuscript at an early stage and reading the proofs; to Oliver Knox and Jane Selley for their work on the proofs; and to the Duke and Duchess of Segorbe, for having me to stay in Seville while working in the Archivo General de Indias. Many have written of that Archivo. Irene Wright even wrote a poem. The obligation to study there has once more shown how duty and pleasure can be combined. I am grateful, too, for their enthusiasm and support, to: Gillon Aitken and Andrew Wylie; Carmen Balcells and Gloria Gutiérrez; Anthony Cheetham, then of Random Century; Simon King and Anthony Whittome of Hutchinson – the latter a most generous, considerate and patient editor; and Michael Korda of Simon and Schuster, as encouraging as he was imaginative. I also thank Mrs Susan Eddleston, of Coutts and Co., for her backing.


HUGH THOMAS


1 August 1993


I am grateful to the University of Utah Press, Charles Dibble and Arthur Anderson for their translation of the Florentine Codex. I have on occasion changed a word of this translation in which case I have removed the inverted commas round the passage concerned. Occasionally I have used Angel Garibay’s translation of the Codex and re-translated accordingly. I am also grateful to John Bierhorst, the late Irene Nicholson and Miguel León-Portilla, and of course indirectly the late Angel María Garibay, for their translations of verses originally in Nahuatl. I am grateful to the heirs of the late Thelma Sullivan for the translation quoted on page 317.


I am similarly grateful to Anthony Pagden for use of his translation of Cortés’ letters to Charles V; to Doris Heyden and F. Horcantes, for their translations from Fr. Durán’s Historia de las Indias; Fr. Francis Speck SJ, for his translation of Motolinía’s Historia de los Indios; Benjamin Keen, for his translation of Zorita’s Relación de los señores de la Nueva España; L. B. Simpson, for his translation of López de Gómara’s La conquista de México; and the late Rita Hamilton and the late Jane Perry for their translation of The Poem of the Cid. References to these works in the notes are always to Spanish editions. I have often varied the translations or made my own. Bibliographical details of all these publications can be found in the Sources. Finally, Genealogy III, “Cortés and his relations”, owes a great deal to Edward Cooper’s work in his Castillos Señoriales en la Corona de Castilla.





Notes



1. I refer to the people usually called Aztecs as the Mexica (pronounced “Mesheeca”), the word by which they called themselves. Neither Cortés, nor Bernal Díaz, nor Fr. Bernardino de Sahagún used the word “Aztecs”. “Aztec”, from Aztlan, was not a word used in the sixteenth century (though it may have been in the thirteenth). It was made popular by the Jesuit scholar, Francisco Javier Clavijero, in the eighteenth century, and then by Prescott. In this matter I follow R. H. Barlow, “Some remarks on the term ‘Aztec Empire’ ”, The Americas, I, 3 (January 1945).


When I refer to the Mexica I mean the people as such. If I speak of Mexicans I mean identifiable individuals.


To those who will say that the use of the word “Mexica” confuses the present Mexicans with their indigenous predecessors, I would reply that those who have recently been in control of Mexico, whether white, mestizo or Indian, have maintained themselves by insisting that they are the heirs of the ancient indigenous peoples.


2. I have spoken of the capital of the Mexica as “Tenochtitlan”, the name most frequently used in the sixteenth century. The Mexica often called it “Mexico”, sometimes “Mexico Tenochtitlan” or, if they were referring to Tlatelolco, “Mexico Tlatelolco”. They frequently called themselves the “Tenochca”, that is, residents of Tenochtitlan, and the “Tlatelolca”, the residents of Tlatelolco. I have eschewed those usages, except where essential, as, for example, in Chapter 35.


3. I have usually spoken of the conquistadors as Castilians, sometimes as the Spaniards. Similarly I refer often to the King of “Spain” as the King of Castile. “Spain” was increasingly in use, not least because of Cortés’ designation of what became his conquest as “New Spain”.


4. I have throughout used the modern calendar for dates, and, as a rule, modern geographical names.


5. I have called the Emperor of Mexico in 1518 by his to us familiar name of Montezuma. Sahagún spoke of “Motecuçoma”, the Codex Aubin had “Motecucoma”, and the Codex Mendoza “Motecuma”. Cortés spoke of “Mutezuma”, the Church translated the Emperor as “Motevcçuma” (“dominus Motevcçuma, cum 17 aut 18 annis regnaret . . .”), and the modern Spanish form is “Moctezuma”.


6. I have permitted myself many other anglicisations of both place names and personal names, depending on usage. Thus I have Saragossa, Corunna, Navarre, Seville, Havana; Ferdinand, Charles, and Philip, but, all the same, Juana, Pedro and Juan, where the individuals concerned are not kings, and even Juana rather than Joanna for the queen of that name.





I



Ancient Mexico
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1



Harmony and order


“The fashion of living [in Mexico] is almost the same as in Spain with just as much harmony and order . . .”


Hernán Cortés to Charles V, 1521


THE BEAUTIFUL POSITION of the Mexican capital, Tenochtitlan, could scarcely have been improved upon. The city stood over seven thousand feet up, on an island near the shore of a great lake. It was two hundred miles from the sea to the west, a hundred and fifty to the east. The lake lay in the centre of a broad valley surrounded by magnificent mountains, two of which were volcanoes. One of these was always covered by snow: “O Mexico, that such mountains should encircle and crown thee,” a Spanish Franciscan would exult a few years later.1 The sun shone brilliantly most days, the air was clear, the sky was as blue as the water of the lake, the colours were intense, the nights cold.


Like Venice, with which it would be insistently compared, Tenochtitlan had been built over several generations.2 The tiny natural island at the centre of it had been extended to cover 2,500 acres by driving in stakes, and throwing mud and rocks into the gaps. Tenochtitlan boasted about thirty fine high palaces made of a reddish, porous volcanic stone.3 The smaller, single-storey houses, in which most of the 250,000 or so inhabitants lived, were of adobe and usually painted white.4 Many of these had been secured against floods by being raised on platforms. The lake was alive with canoes of different sizes bringing tribute and commercial goods. The shores were dotted with well-constructed small towns which owed allegiance to the great city on the water.


The centre of Tenochtitlan was a walled holy precinct, with numerous sacred buildings, including several pyramids with temples on top.5 Streets and canals led away straight from the precinct at all four points of the compass. Nearby stood the Emperor’s palace. There were many minor pyramids in the city, each the base for temples to different gods: the pyramids themselves, characteristic religious edifices of the region, being a human tribute to the splendour of the surrounding volcanoes.





[image: map]





Tenochtitlan’s site made it seem impregnable. The city had never been attacked. The Mexica had only to raise the bridges on the three causeways which connected their capital to the mainland to be beyond the reach of any plausible enemy. A poem demanded:


Who could conquer Tenochtitlan?


Who could shake the foundation of heaven . . . ?6


Tenochtitlan’s safety had been underpinned for ninety years by an alliance with two other cities on, respectively, the west and east sides of the lake – Tacuba and Texcoco. Both were satellites of Tenochtitlan, though Texcoco, the capital of culture, was formidable in its own right: an elegant version of the language of the valley, Nahuatl, was spoken there. Tacuba was tiny, for it may have had only 120 houses.7 These two places obeyed the Emperor of the Mexica in respect of military affairs. Otherwise they were independent. The royal houses, as there is no reason not to call them, of both were linked by blood with that of Tenochtitlan.8


These allies helped to guarantee a mutually advantageous lacustrine economy of fifty or so small, self-governing city states, many of them within sight of one another, none of them self-sufficient. Wood was available for fire (as for carved furniture, agricultural tools, canoes, weapons, and idols) from the slopes of the mountains; flint and obsidian could be obtained for some instruments from a zone in the north-east; there was clay for pottery and figurines (a flourishing art, with at least nine different wares) while, from the shore of the lake, came salt, and reeds for baskets.


The emperors of Mexico dominated not only the Valley of Mexico.9 Beyond the volcanoes, they had, during the previous three generations, established their authority to the east as far as the Gulf of Mexico. Their sway extended far down the coast of the Pacific Ocean in the west to Xoconocho, the best source of the much-prized green feathers of the quetzal bird. To the south, they had led armies to remote conquests in rain forests a month’s march away. Tenochtitlan thus controlled three distinct zones: the tropics, near the oceans; a temperate area, beyond the volcanoes; and the mountainous region, nearby. Hence the variety of products for sale in the imperial capital.


The heartland of the empire, the Valley of Mexico, was seventy-five miles north to south, forty east to west: about three thousand square miles; but the empire itself covered 125,000 square miles.10


Tenochtitlan should have been self-confident. There was no city bigger, more powerful, or richer within the world of which the people of the valley were informed. It acted as the focus for thousands of immigrants, of whom some had come because of the demand for their crafts: lapidaries, for example, from Xochimilco. A single family had ruled the city for over a century. A “mosaic” of altogether nearly four hundred cities, each with its own ruler, sent regular deliveries to the Emperor of (to mention the most important items) maize (the local staff of life) and beans, cotton cloaks and other clothes, as well as several types of war costumes (war tunics, often feathered, were sent from all but eight out of thirty-eight provinces).11 Tribute included raw materials and goods in an unfinished state (beaten but not embellished gold), as well as manufactured items (including amber and crystal lip plugs, and strings of jade or turquoise beads).


*


The power of the Mexica in the year 1518 or, as they called it, 13-Slate, seemed to rest upon solid foundations. Exchange of goods was well established. Cocoa beans and cloaks, sometimes canoes, copper axes, and feather quills full of gold dust, were used as currency (a small cloak was reckoned as worth between sixty-five and a hundred cocoa beans).12 But payments for services were usually made in kind.


There were markets in all districts: one of these, that in the city of Tlatelolco, by now a large suburb of Tenochtitlan, was the biggest market in the Americas, an emporium for the entire region. Even goods from distant Guatemala were exchanged there. Meantime, trade on a small scale in old Mexico was carried on by nearly everyone, for marketing the household’s product was the main activity of family life.


The Mexican empire had the benefit of a remarkable lingua franca. This was Nahuatl: in the words of one who knew it, a “smooth and malleable language, both majestic and of great quality, comprehensive, and easily mastered”.13 It lent itself to expressive metaphors, and eloquent repetitions. It inspired oratory and poetry, recited both as a pastime and to celebrate the gods.14 An equally interesting manifestation was the tradition of long speeches, huehuetlatolli, “words of the old men”, learned by heart (as was the poetry) for public occasions, and covering a vast number of themes, usually affording the advice that temperance was best.


Nahuatl was an oral language. But the Mexica, like the other peoples in the valley, used pictographs and ideograms for writing. Names of persons – for example, Acamapichtli (“handful of reeds”) or Miahuaxochitl (“turquoise maize flower”) could always be represented by the former. Perhaps the Mexica were moving towards something like the syllabic script of the Maya. Even a development on that scale would not have been able to express the subtleties of their speech. Yet Nahuatl was, as the Castilian philologist, Antonio de Nebrija had, in the 1490s, described Castilian, “a language of empire”. Appropriately, the literal translation of the word for a ruler, tlatoani, was “spokesman”: he who speaks or, perhaps, he who commands (huey tlatoani, emperor, was “high spokesman”). Mexican writers could also express elegiac melancholy in a way which seems almost to echo French poetry of the same era:


I am to pass away like a faded flower


My fame will be nothing, my renown on earth will vanish.15


Nahuatl, its foremost modern scholar has passionately said, “is a language which should never die”.16


Beautiful painted books (usually called codices) recorded the possession of land, as of history, with family trees and maps supporting the inclination of the ancient Mexicans to be litigious. The importance of this side of life can be gathered from the 480,000 sheets of bark paper regularly sent as tribute to “the storehouses of the ruler of Tenochtitlan”.17


*


The politics of the empire were happily guaranteed by the arrangements for imperial succession. Though normal inheritance customarily passed from father to son, a new emperor, always of the same family as his predecessor, was usually his brother, or cousin, who had performed well in a recent war. Thus the Emperor in 1518, Montezuma II, was the eighth son of Axayácatl, an emperor who died in 1481.18 Montezuma had followed an uncle, Ahuítzotl, who had died in 1502. In the selection of a new ruler, about thirty lords, together with the kings of Texcoco and Tacuba, acted as an electoral college.19 No succession so decided seems to have been challenged, even if sometimes there had been rival candidates.20 (Vestiges of this method of election can be detected by the imaginative in modern methods of selecting the President of Mexico.)21 Disputes were avoided since each election of a ruler was accompanied by the nomination of four other leaders, who in theory would remain in their places throughout the reign of an emperor, and of whom one would become the heir.22 No doubt the actual duties of these officials (“Killer of Men”, “Keeper of the House of Darkness”) had become detached from the titles just as the “Chief Butler of the King” had ceased in Castile to have much to do with the provision of wine. The system of succession varied in nearby cities: in most of them, the ruler was hereditary in the family of the monarch, though in some places the kingship did not always fall to the eldest son. In Texcoco primogeniture was the rule.23


It is true that the deaths of the last three emperors had seemed a little odd: Ahuítzotl died from a blow on the head when fleeing from flood waters; Tizoc was rumoured to have been killed by witches; and Axayácatl died after defeat in battle. Yet there is nothing to prove that in fact they did not die from natural causes.24


The Mexican emperor stood for, and concerned himself with, the external face of the empire. Internal affairs were ultimately directed by a deputy emperor, a cousin, the cihuacoatl, a title which he shared with that of a great goddess, and whose literal translation, “woman snake”, connected him with the feminine side of divinity. The word gives an inadequate picture of his multifarious duties. Probably in the beginning this official was the priest of the goddess whose name he had.


The internal life of Tenochtitlan was stable. It was in practice managed by an interlocking network of something between a clan, a guild and a district, known as the calpulli, a word about whose precise nature every generation of scholars has a new theory, only agreeing that it indicated a self-governing unit, and that it held land which its members did not own, but used. It was probably an association of linked extended families. In several calpultin (that being the plural style) families had the same professions. Thus featherworkers mostly lived in Amantlan, a district which may once have been an independent village.


Each calpulli had its own gods, priests, and traditions. Marriage (celebrated in old Mexico with as much ceremonial as in Europe) outside the calpulli, though not impossible, was unusual. The calpulli was the body which mobilised the Mexica for war, for cleaning streets, and for attending festivals. Farmers of land which had been granted by the calpulli gave a proportion of the crops (perhaps a third) to that body for delivery to the imperial administration. Through the calpulli, the farmer heard the requests, or the orders, of the Emperor.25 There were perhaps as many as eighty of these in Tenochtitlan. Earlier, the leader, the calpullec, had apparently been elected but, by the fifteenth century, that office had become hereditary and lifelong. He too had a council of elders to consult, just as the Emperor had his more formally contrived advisers.


The most powerful calpulli was that in the suburb known as Cueopan, where there lived the so-called long-distance merchants, the pochteca. These had a bad name among Mexica: they seemed to be “the greedy, the well-fed, the covetous, the niggardly . . . who coveted wealth”. But they were officially praised: “men who, leading the caravans of bearers, made the Mexican state great”.26 Knowing that they were the object of envy, they were secretive. They served the Mexica as spies: telling the Emperor the strengths, the weaknesses and the wealth of the places which they saw on their journeys.27


These merchants, who imported Tenochtitlan’s raw materials, as well as the luxury goods from both the temperate zone and the tropics, antedated the empire in their organisation.28 Much of their work consisted of the exchange of manufactured objects for raw materials: an embroidered cloak for jade; or a gold jewel for tortoiseshells (used as spoons for cocoa). These great merchants lived without ostentation, dressed badly, and wore their hair down to their waists. Yet they had many possessions. They were even referred to by the Emperor as his “uncles”; and their daughters were sometimes concubines of monarchs.


*


Important though the merchants were, the supremacy of the Mexica in the valley and beyond had been won by their soldiers. These warriors were both well organised and numerous: the rulers were said to have waited till their population was large before challenging the Tepanecs, to whom they had previously been subject, in 1428.29 Boys in Mexico were prepared for war from birth in a way which both Spartans and Prussians would have found congenial. At baptisms (the process of naming a child included the use of water sprinkled on the infant, and the placing of water over the heart, so the Christian word is appropriate) the midwife, taking the male child from the mother, would announce that he “belongs to the battlefield, there in the centre, in the middle of the plains”. Male children’s umbilical cords were buried in places facing where the enemy might be expected. “War is thy desert, thy task . . .” the midwife would tell the newborn boy, “perhaps thou wilt receive the gift . . . [of] the flowered death by the obsidian knife” (that is, by sacrifice, as a prisoner of war).30


The weapons of war were present too at christenings: the bow and arrow, the sling, the stone-headed wooden spear. Those weapons, along with the club and the macuauhuitl, a two-edged sword of black obsidian blades set in oak (they cut “like a razor from Tolosa”, one conquistador would say), had given these armies their victories.31 The sign (glyph) for government in Nahuatl was a depiction of a bow and arrow, a round shield (of tightly arranged feathers on a wooden, or cane, backing), and a throwing stick (atlatl, used to launch spears – at fish as well as at men). The best cloaks and the richest jewels were obtained as prizes for valour, not by purchase. Any male who failed to respond to the call to go to war lost all status, even if he were the son of the Emperor (“he who does not go to war will not consort with the brave” was a Spanish chronicler’s formulation of the principle).32 Promotion in the army (and hence a social rise generally) depended on capturing a specific number of captives: an event consummated by special insignia. Membership of the knightly orders, the “jaguars” and the “eagles”, was a supreme distinction obtained by the brave.


The costumes of these orders, and indeed all the war costumes, ridiculous though they seemed to Europeans, were intended to terrify, by playing on the nerves of enemies. Full-feathered constructions on bamboo frames were strapped to captains’ backs, while feather-decked heads of animals, sometimes worn as part of a full animal skin, completed the psychological warfare of armies whose first aim was to inspire fear, and so secure surrender without conflict. The colossal Mexican sculptures, such as that of the great Coatlicue, for which there was no precedent in earlier empires in the valley, had the same purpose. There had been so many conflicts that war, not agriculture, seemed the main occupation of the ancient Mexica: “if war is not going on, the Mexica consider themselves idle,” the Emperor Montezuma I had remarked.33 For, as poets insisted, “a battle is like a flower”.34 It must sometimes have looked like that.


The commitment of the population to war makes credible the estimates given by historians of the late sixteenth century for the size of the Mexican armies. Thus Axayácatl, the rash poet-emperor who lost a war against the Tarascans, was said to have had 24,000 men with him. His successor but one, Ahuítzotl, who tried to absorb far-off Tehuantepec, was believed to have had an army of 200,000, gathered from many cities. Tenochtitlan during this campaign was said to have been empty save for women and children.35


These forces, organised in legions of 8,000 men, divided into companies of 100, and co-ordinated by the calpultin, maintained peace, and imperial rule, by the constant threat, and sometimes the use, of terror. No doubt references in codices to decisions “to wipe out all traces” of such and such a place were often exaggerated. But since successful wars ended with the burning of the enemy’s temple (which had the benefit of enabling the destruction of the armouries which were usually close by), brutality must have occurred. Mexican leaders often arranged to persuade their own people that conflict had been forced upon them.36 There were many small wars, or shows of force, for the empire was so large, the terrain so rugged, that the armies of Tenochtitlan were constantly on the move, putting down rebellions, as well as conquering new cities.


This Mexican era of continuous conquest had begun about 1430. The instigators were the first emperor, Itzcoatl, and his curious nephew, and general, Tlacaelel, who was also cihuacoatl. Previously, the Mexica had seemed to have been just one more small tribe of demanding people in the valley. But as a result of the efforts of these two men, the Mexica had transformed themselves into “a chosen people”, with a mission, whose purpose was to give to all humanity the benefits of their own victory.37


A special people needs a special training. That was possible since most of the Mexica lived in a city and therefore their children could easily be sent to schools. The upper class sent their sons to rigorous boarding academies, the calmécac (“houses of tears”), which, in their cultivation of good breeding, their design to break boys’ loyalties towards their homes, and their austerity, bore a definite resemblance to public schools in England during the reign of Victoria (boys aged seven were urged not to look “longingly to thy home . . . Do not say ‘my mother is there. My father is there’ ”).38 Attention was paid to “character”: the preparation, it was said, of a “true face and heart”. But there were classes too in law, politics, history, painting, and music.


The children of workers received vocational training in the more relaxed telpochcalli, the “houses of youth” established in every district. The teachers were professionals, but priests played a part. From these institutions, children could go home frequently. Yet they, like those in the calmécac, received ample instruction in morality and natural history through homilies which they often learned by heart, and of which some survive. “Almost all,” wrote a good observer in the 1560s, “know the names of all the birds, animals, trees and herbs, knowing too as many as a thousand varieties of the latter, and what they are good for.”39 A strong work ethic was inculcated: and children were told that they had to be honest, diligent and resourceful. All the same, preparation for combat was the dominating consideration where boys were concerned: above all, single combat with a matched enemy.


In both educational institutions, food was provided by children or their parents, but the teachers were supplied by what it is probably permissible to call the state.40 Girls received training as housewives and mothers.


The commitment to fighting for male children was marked by a custom whereby, at the age of ten, a boy had his hair cut with only one lock left on his neck. He was not permitted to have that removed till, at the age of eighteen, he had taken a prisoner in war. Then he could grow his hair, and embark upon a competition, which lasted throughout his early manhood, to achieve other benefits, by capturing more prisoners.41


*


Another mark of serenity in Tenochtitlan was that there seemed to be no tensions between religion and civil government. Indeed, the very idea would have seemed incomprehensible. The monarch had supreme religious duties. His responsibility, like his palace, was distinct from that of the priesthood. He had civil duties. His judges and their officials administered a civil law. Yet he had a mandate which he considered came from the gods. He used that to preserve society by playing on his people’s sense of natural obligation, rather than by imposition. For all citizens accepted that the reason for their being was to serve the gods.


In the early sixteenth century, no Mexican questioned the central myth of the people, the Legend of the Suns. According to this, time on earth had been divided into five eras. The first of these, known as “4-Tiger”, had been destroyed by wild animals; the second, “4-Wind”, by wind; the third, “4-Rain”, by fire; and the fourth, “4-Water”, by floods. The last, the fifth age, that of the Mexica, known as “4-Motion”, would, according to myth, one day culminate in a catastrophe brought on by terrifying earthquakes. Monsters of the twilight would come to earth. Human beings would be changed into animals: or, possibly, turkeys.42


In order to stave off that bleak day, the god Huitzilopochtli (whose name meant “Hummingbird on the left”, or “of the south”), who incarnated the sun (as well as war and the chase), the virginally conceived child of the ancient earth goddess Coatlicue (literally, “serpent skirt”), had, every morning, to put to flight the moon (his sister Coyolxauhqui, whose name meant “her cheeks are painted with bells”) and the stars (his brothers, the Centzonuitnaua, “the four hundred southerners”). That struggle symbolised a new day. It was assumed that Huitzilopochtli would be carried into the middle of the sky by the spirits of warriors who had died in battle, or on the sacrificial stone. Then, in the afternoon, he would be borne down, by the ghosts of women who had died in childbirth, to the sunset, close to the earth.


To carry through this ceaseless work, Huitzilopochtli had, by extraordinary convention, to be given nourishment, in the shape of human blood (“most precious water”).


Huitzilopochtli may once have been a real chief who had been deified after his death.43 He may not even have been known till the Mexica, after a peregrination, reached the valley. In those early days, other deities such as the earth goddess, Coatlicue (Huitzilopochtli’s mother), or the god of rain, Tlaloc, were far more important than he. But the role of Huitzilopochtli had grown with the empire. He was more and more represented in fiestas where previously he had had no place. He seemed to be the central deity.44


The Great Temple, at the geometric centre of Tenochtitlan, symbolised the place of gods in the minds of the people. Each profession had, however, its own deity. Important professions had their own sanctuaries in each of the city’s four quarters. Every common food, above all maize, also had its god, or was expressed as a deity. Agricultural tools were not only revered, but thanked, with food, incense and octli, the fermented juice of the cactus (now known as pulque).


Priests were ascetic celibates of high standing. Two high priests commanded them: one to serve Huitzilopochtli, the other to care for the interests of the still very important deity, Tlaloc, god of rain. Both were named by the Emperor.


Priests had many responsibilities. They acted as watchmen as, nightly, they patrolled the hills round the city, and looked at the heavens to await the periodical reappearance of the planets. They sounded the hours, and inaugurated battles with conch shell trumpets. They guarded the temples, and preserved the people’s legends. Their bodies dyed black, their hair long, their ears tattered by offerings of blood, priests were immensely influential.45


The Emperor, meantime, was considered a semi-divine figure, to whom even the priests looked up. Both Montezuma II, Emperor in 1518, and his predecessor, Ahuítzotl, had been high priests in early life. Mexico was not a theocracy. There was no public cult of the Emperor’s person. Yet religion governed all. The average Mexican’s home of adobe and thatch was bare. It rarely had more than a sleeping mat and a hearth. But it always had a shrine, with a clay figurine, usually of the earth goddess Coatlicue.


The priests served perhaps 200 major deities, perhaps 1,600 in all. Figures representing these gods were to be seen everywhere, at crossroads, in front of fountains, before large trees, on hilltops, in oratories, sometimes made of stone, sometimes of wood, baked clay, or even seed, some big, some small. The leading deities, such as the ubiquitous Huitzilopochtli, the capricious Tezcatlipoca, the rain god Tlaloc, and the normally humane Quetzalcoatl, were the real rulers of the Mexica.46


There may appear to the modern enquirer to be ambiguities about the role of certain gods. For example, one account describes the sun, fire, water and the regions beyond the heavens as being seen to have been created by four separate deities. Another suggests that the mother-father, Ometeotl, God-Goddess, god of the positive and negative at the same time, was responsible. The gods of Mexico seem to have been the rain, the sun, the wind, fertility, themselves – not just the inspirers of those things. Different interpretations of these complexities divide scholars, partly since the Mexican religious world was all the time changing: the old gods of the Mexica as nomads were still being superimposed upon deities already established in the valley.47 Though often seeming contradictory to us today, Mexican religion at the time inspired no controversies.


Then a recent king of Texcoco, the long-reigning poet Nezahualcoyotl, with a group of cultivated courtiers, had apparently been drawn to the potentially explosive idea of a single “Unknown God”, Ipalnemoani, a deity who was never seen and who was not represented by portraits:


My house is hung with pictures


So is yours, one and only God,


*


Nezahualcoyotl had written, in one of his many moving poems.48 This poet-king’s eloquent devotion to the god Tezcatlipoca, “smoking mirror”, might seem to foreshadow the coming of a single inspiration: “O lord, lord of the night, lord of the near, the night and the wind,” Mexicans would often pray, as if, in moments of perplexity, they required a unique recipient of supplication. Even if Nezahualcoyotl’s poems are dismissed (as they sometimes are) as the skilful embroideries of his descendants, the Mexica plainly accepted that there was a grand supernatural force, of which all other gods were the expression, and which assisted the growth of man’s dignity: one divine poem talked of precisely such a person.49 This force was the combination of the Lord of Duality, Ometecuhtli, and his lady, Omecihuatl, the ancestors of all the gods, who if almost in retirement, still decided the birth date of all beings. They were believed to live at the top of the world, in the thirteenth heaven, where the air was “very cold, delicate and iced”.50


In the remote past, in the nearby lost city which the Mexicans called Teotihuacan, “place where gods are made”, there may even have been a cult of the immortality of the soul. There had thus been those who had said, “When we die, it is not true that we die. For still we live. We are resurrected. We still live. We are awakened. Do thou likewise.”51


Yet Nezahualcoyotl’s “Giver of Life” was not the focus of a major cult. The handsome, empty temple to him in Texcoco was not copied. Nor did Nezahualcoyotl abandon his belief in the traditional gods. There seems to have been no contradiction between Nezahualcoyotl’s stress on the Divine Giver and his acceptance of the conventional pantheon.52


There was also in Mexico a semi-sacred profession separate to the priesthood, containing men dedicated to private rites, principally fortune-telling, miracle-healing, and interpreting dreams. These were as ascetic and dedicated as the priests. But they were able to transport themselves into states of mind incapable of being reached by ordinary men and women, finding the answer to all problems by placing themselves in a state of ecstasy, itself often obtained by drinking pulque, smoking tobacco, eating certain mushrooms (sometimes with honey, to constitute the “flesh of the gods”), or the seeds of morning glory, the datura lily, and the peyote cactus. The mushrooms, to the Mexica the most important of these plants, came from the pine-covered slopes of the mountains surrounding the valley. Others were brought to Mexico as tribute. Through their use, men thought that they could be transported to the underworld, to heaven, or to the past and to the future. (Conventional priests also used mixtures of these sacred plants, in the form of a pomade, when they talked to the gods.) These things may have been employed by the Mexica in their nomadic stage. They were certainly the special delight of their remote cousins, the surviving Chichimecs.53


Neither the priests nor these divines should be confused with magicians and sorcerers. The tricks of these men included the art of seeming to change themselves into animals, or to disappear. They knew all sorts of magic words or acts which could “bewitch women, and turn their affections wherever they chose”.


Finally, in the Mexican divine scheme of things, there was the sun. Like most societies of that era, including most in the old world, the heavenly bodies dominated life. The ancient Mexica were not the only people to follow the movement of the sun meticulously, to note down what they observed, to predict eclipses, to plan their buildings for effective observation, or for astronomically satisfying angles. Indeed, the Mayas in Yucatan, in their heyday in the sixth century AD, had been more remarkable in their persistence, and knowledge. They had “a long count” of years which the Mexica did not. Their mathematics had been more complex. Mexican hieroglyphs were also more pictorial and less abstract than Maya ones. All the same, the Mexican priests who interpreted the calendars and, with two notched sticks, the heavens, were mathematicians of skill and imagination. Most cities of the size of Tenochtitlan forget the heavenly bodies. The capital of the Mexica, through the placing of its sacred buildings, and through its gods, emphasised them. Thereby “harmony and order” seemed to be guaranteed.
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Palace of the white sedges


“Behold Mexico, palace of the white willows, palace of the white sedges! And you like a blue heron, above her, you open your wings. You come to her flying.


Beautifully, you open your wings and your fantail. These are your subjects, they who rule throughout the land, everywhere . . .”


Angel María Garibay, La Literatura de los Aztecas, tr. Bierhorst


THOUGH APPARENTLY STABLE, the Mexican empire had taken shape recently enough for its leaders to be conscious, in a world which venerated the past, of its relative youth. A few generations before, the Mexica had seemed just one more tribe of intruders which, famished and “uncouth”, had, about 1250, descended from the north in search of good land in the fertile valley.1 With difficulty, they had found themselves a home where (probably about 1345) they had begun to build their city – on a spot where, legend insisted, an eagle had been observed sitting on a cactus (Tenochtitlan meant “place of the fruit of the cactus”). There were arguments as to whether the Mexica had originally come from the island Aztlan (“place of the white heron”), in a far-off lake, or from Chicomoztoc (“the seven caves”); and where those places were. No one disputed that they had arrived recently.


Many places even in the valley had been independent of the Mexica until within living memory: thus Chalco, on the east of the lake, and once the centre of a little empire of its own, with twenty-five dependent towns, had only succumbed to the Mexica in 1465. Such seemingly traditional things as the customary war costume dated only from the Emperor Axayácatl’s victory in the Huaxtec region in the 1470s.2


The Mexica were proud of their recent achievements. Twenty-five years before their victorious war against the Tepanecs, even the King, Acampichtli, had scarcely enough to eat. Now in 1518 his descendant the Emperor Montezuma dined regularly off a hundred dishes. In the days of Acampichtli, the Mexica had been able to offer only a modest tribute to the Tepanecs: frogs, fish, juniper berries, willow leaves. Now they themselves regularly received riches which made those lakeside products seem perfunctory. In the old days, the Mexica had dressed in clothes made of maguey fibre; but now their upper class wore robes of long quetzal feathers, and very elaborate cloaks of white duck feathers, embroidered skirts, and necklaces with radiating pendants and huge objects of greenstone3 – which the Mexica considered more beautiful than gold (indeed the word for it, chalchihuite, meant not only the stone but anything beautiful). The Tepanecs had once controlled the modest aqueduct of reeds and clay which brought water to Tenochtitlan from a spring at Chapultepec (“hill of the grasshopper”). Now the Mexica had one of stone with two channels (used alternately, to allow cleaning), which they managed for themselves. Inventive people such as the Totonacs and Huaxtecs on the coast had made sculptures in terracotta. The Mexica, learning from them, did the same in rock. Above all, the Mexica had in the mid-fifteenth century built a colossal city, bigger than any in Europe with the possible exception of Naples and Constantinople, on what had been, only a hundred and fifty years ago, a few huts on a mud bank. Is it surprising that something like patriotism was well established?


Another achievement which seems remarkable was that crime in old Mexico was limited, whether because of a general acceptance of the mores of society or as a consequence of harsh penalties. Strict judges sitting in regularly constituted tribunals administered equitable if severe punishments through officials whose task was to maintain order, arrest suspects, and carry out sentences. These judges had a messenger service of “the greatest speed, whether it was by day or night, travelling through rain, snow or hail”.4 Certain cases would go for judgement to the Emperor or the cihuacoatl.5 The law did not favour noblemen. Indeed, they were supposed to be punished more severely than commoners in respect of most crimes. Monarchs considered their own families bound by laws: King Nezahualpilli of Texcoco had a favourite son put to death on the suspicion of adultery with one of his wives.6 Weakness by a judge was harshly punished. The law provided that, whenever a crime was committed, the principals in the place concerned were responsible for delivering the offender within a certain time; otherwise, they would have to pay the penalty reserved for the criminal.7 Most punishments, such as breaking of heads with cudgels, were carried out in public. The death penalty was used for almost every crime considered a felony in modern society. Naughty children met a series of progressively more unpleasant retributions: a disobedient nine-year-old would be bound hand and foot, and have maguey spikes thrust into his shoulders; at ten, he would be beaten.8 Save at certain festivals, neither the young nor the ordinary workers were allowed to touch pulque, the only Mexican alcohol. Drinking was punishable by death on the occasion of the second offence. Those over seventy, providing they had grandchildren, could, however, drink more often; at festivals, as much as they liked.


A clear distinction existed among the Mexica between good and bad. Thus the Florentine Codex, an admirable summary of what occurred in old Mexico in almost every sphere, tells in detail what a good father would do (“he regulates, distributes with care, establishes order”) and how a bad one would behave (“he is lazy, uncompassionate, negligent”). Similar distinctions were made in the same text between good and bad mothers, children, uncles, aunts, down to great-great- grandparents and mothers-in-law (“the bad mother-in-law is one who . . . delights in the misfortune of others, who alienates people, who is disloyal”).9 The good magistrate and the bad magistrate were carefully distinguished too: the latter, for example, was described as a “shower of favour, a hater of people, an establisher of unjust ordinances, an accepter of bribes, an issuer of corrupt pronouncements, a doer of favours”.10


Stability was further strengthened by the tradition whereby most people remained in the same profession as their fathers: the featherworkers (the most respected of craftsmen) were children of featherworkers, the goldsmiths of goldsmiths.


Most Mexicans were obedient, respectful, disciplined. There were no beggars. The streets were clean, the houses were spotless. Women’s lives were spent weaving cloths. For them the spindle, the weaving frame, the loom, the skeins of thread and the straw mat marked, with the family, the boundaries of life. Such discipline was easily accepted in return for the benefits of order. Individuals scarcely existed outside the collectivity. The German newssheet, Neuwe Zeitung von dem Lande das die Spanien funden, of 1521, thus exaggerated only slightly when, as a result of reports sent from the New World, it told its readers in Nuremberg that “if the King tells the people to go into the forest to die there, they do”.11 To secure such order, “the nation had a special steward for every activity. Everything was so well recorded that nothing was left out of the accounts. There were even officials in charge of sweeping.”12


The standing of women was at least comparable to what it was at that time in Europe. Thus a woman could own property, and go to law, without the approval of her husband. Women played a part in commerce, and they could become priestesses, though they never reached the highest level. As in Europe, a man’s right to office was affected by his mother’s or his wife’s status, office was sometimes transmitted through a daughter’s son and, occasionally, a woman would hold a title. All the same, daughters were often given away as presents; and, one formal instruction for married women ran, almost as if in Castile: “when your parents give you a husband, do not be disrespectful to him . . . obey him”.13 Though in the early nomadic days of the Mexica, monogamy had been normal, the rulers by the sixteenth century had many concubines as well as a chief wife, or queen.


The Mexica were tolerant of the other peoples, such as the Otomí, who lived among them. These had their own religion, culture, language, even their own calendars (slightly different from those of the Mexica). But tribal hatreds did not seem to exist within the Mexican body politic.


*


Nor, at least on the surface, did there seem to have been serious disputes about property (though there have been many feuds among historians about the nature of its holding). The land of the city – both inside it and on the further shore of the lake – was divided between the calpultin, the nobles, the temples, and the government. Conquered land was a reward for services to those who had fought.14 Agriculture of course varied from zone to zone. The dependent cities in the fertile low land near the sea enjoyed two crops a year. The Valley of Mexico usually had one crop only. But that latter basin had at its heart a most unusual feature: the “floating gardens”, the chinampas, intensely cultivated artificial islands built of mud, in practice usually rooted to the bed of the lake by willow trees, though some nursery beds were begun on floating rushes, or weed.15 (These had begun about AD 1200, in the lakes of Xochimilco and Chalco. They had recently been extended to Tenochtitlan itself.) These fertile acres had permanent irrigation through seepage, and, hence, could be continuously cultivated, unaffected by drought.16


In these chinampas the Mexica produced about 100 million pounds of maize a year without fallowing, as well as much fresh fruit, vegetables and flowers.17 Fire-hardened oak spades and digging sticks made possible the cultivation of the fertile swampy land near the lake, and that on the “rough sierras” too.18


Most land near the lake was ingeniously irrigated, and so could be continually cultivated. This land, outside the chinampas, was regularly allowed to lie fallow, and excrement of all sorts, including human, was used for manure. The land had been originally cleared by felling trees or, more often, girdling them, then burning the branches.


The average farmer in old Mexico – the average man, that is – had as hard a life as any peasant in Europe. It was, too, the same kind of life: the Florentine Codex says that he was bound to the soil, prepared it, weeded it, levelled it, made furrows in it, set the landmarks in it, thinned out the maize, harvested it, and winnowed it.19


The main crop was, above all, maize, grown at all heights. Almost as important were amaranth and sage. Beans, chilli peppers and squashes were also widely grown. The sweet potato was produced on the coast. Cacti were cultivated, for many purposes: the sap was drunk as a syrup, and was made into the alcoholic pulque, and the needles were used for sewing, and blood-letting. Turkeys, muscovy ducks, little dogs and bees were domesticated.20 Almost everything which moved was eaten. So was scum from the lake.


Agriculture was not left to chance. Here we see signs of state intervention. For inspectors appointed by the Emperor ensured that a centrally agreed pattern of cultivation was carried out: a policy which had probably been introduced only recently, when the growth of population began to cause pressure on land.21 Drought and famine had always led to intervention. If the harvest were bad, the Emperor would order not only sacrifices, but the special planting of maguey cacti and prickly pears.


There were thus four main sources of food for Tenochtitlan: chinampa agriculture for vegetables, fruit and some maize; maize locally grown on land on the lakeshore and elsewhere; game and fishing; and tribute.22 Much of the last item, it is true, was given as payment to judges and officials for their services, and to add to the reserves.


The upper classes of Mexico ate diversely. The poor perhaps survived on two and a half to three and a half pounds of maize a day, made into tortillas. They would have beans and vegetables cooked with peppers: and, on feast days, a slice of dog or, occasionally, venison. The availability of the latter, and the time which the poor farmer or townsman could afford to to secure it, had diminished since Tenochtitlan had grown so much.23 All the same, an enterprising family could still find much free food: a larger variety, certainly, than enjoyed by the modern Mexican, for it included fish, weasel, rattlesnake, iguana, insects, grasshoppers, lake algae, worms and over forty kinds of water fowl. Thus consumption compared well with that of the then population of Europe. Those who later thought that the Mexica ate very badly must have been making a partial judgement on the basis of subsequent events.24


Family life, meantime, was cemented by elaborate formal courtesies as well as by ceremonies at important occasions: pregnancy and birth; baptism, marriage and death. Each had their poems, their dances, their rhetoric. Fathers’ advice to sons recalls that of Polonius: “revere and greet your elders . . . do not gossip . . . if you be rude, you will get along with none . . . console the poor”, and, “Do not stay too long in the market place nor in the bath, lest the demon gain mastery over you.”25 The institution of marriage was protected. Though the Emperor, members of his supreme council, noblemen, and successful warriors could, as we have seen, have concubines, adultery (defined as sexual relations between a man and a married woman) was punishable by death (both parties were often thrown into the river or to the vultures). The highest in the land might be punished if their adultery became publicly known.26 The Florentine Codex’s description of a prostitute would not have sounded ill on the lips of Calvin: for “badness” in women was associated with dissolute behaviour, pride, excessive interest in carnal relations, and gaudy clothes.27


Beauty was prized. Old men spoke of children as “a jewelled necklace”, “a precious feather” or “a precious stone bracelet”. A good nobleman might be compared to “a precious green stone”, or a “bracelet of fine turquoise”.28 Metaphors reflected reality. Thus goldsmiths produced jewels of gold leaf which matched the contemporary achievements of the Europeans.29 The observant, if passionate, friar, Motolinía, thought that these men were superior to “goldsmiths in Spain, inasmuch as they can cast a bird with a movable head, tongue and feet and, in the hand, they place a toy with which they seem to dance”.30 The wood carvers, the manuscript painters and lapidaries, workers in alabaster, turquoise and rock crystal, were equally skilled.31 Silversmiths combined with goldsmiths to make objects half in gold, half in silver. Mosaics were contrived of turquoise and pearls. The featherworkers too produced mosaics which had no equivalent in Europe.


The craftsmen who produced these marvels with rudimentary equipment had remarkable ingenuity, as well as sure eyes. Mexican art was also distinguished by both relief and fully carved sculpture, which enabled the Mexica to commemorate great men, great deeds, and good gods, as well as to ward off devils and frighten enemies.


Two calendars gave continuity to the Mexicans. These had been taken over from earlier civilisations in the Valley of Mexico. First, there was the tonalpohualli, a count of 260 days grouped into twenty thirteen-day weeks, each day named and indicating special fortunes for those born on it. Second, there was the xiuhpohualli, based on a solar year of 360 days divided into eighteen months; the extra five days which made up a 365-day year (long ago realised as the appropriate measure) were “useless fillings”, dedicated to no god: unfortunate occasions on which to be born.


Special divines interpreted these calendars. These men not only gave the infant his name, but predicted with certainty the kind of life which he or she might expect to have. These predictions were self-fulfilling: they affected the conduct of the child’s parents towards him, and the child himself, so that it was almost impossible to triumph over such expectations. A good day on which to be born was 4-Dog. But little could be done for anyone born on 9-Wind.32 There were also some mediocre days: neither good nor bad. The calendars indicated whether a good time had come to start on a journey; when war should be declared; and, of course, when to begin the harvest.


After fifty-two years in Mexico, a new century (so to speak) was begun. The ceremony marking this occasion, the “binding of the years”, was solemn. It was awaited with trepidation. The most recent such event, the fourth since the foundation of the city, had been in 1507. New fire had been carried as usual from a sacred hill. Continuity was assured. Those “who were there watching then raised a cry which rose to the heavens with joy” that the world had not ended.33


The Mexica had also achieved what every successful people tries to do: they had established a grand history for themselves. Not only had they produced a heroic account of their early journeys; but they had secured the acceptance by their neighbours that they, the Mexica, were the true heirs of the last great people of the valley, the Toltecs, whose capital had been at Tula (or Tollan), some forty miles north of the lake, and who had been overthrown by nomads in the late twelfth century. The Mexica ensured this inheritance by choosing, as king, in the late fourteenth century, Acampichtli, son of a Mexican warrior and a princess from the nearby city of Culhuacan, six miles from Tenochtitlan, whose ancestors were supposed to derive from the kings of Tollan. Acampichtli is said to have had twenty wives, all daughters of local lords, for the purpose of engendering a Mexican nobility with Toltec blood. He seems to have been successful.34


There was good reason to admire the memory of Tula. The Toltecs had been fine craftsmen in featherwork, precious stones, and gold. They had apparently invented medicine. They had discovered the art of mining, and treating, precious metals. The Toltecs had also been clever farmers, knowing, it was said, how to bring three crops a year from soil which later produced one. Legend insisted that with them cotton grew in different colours, so that dyeing was unnecessary.


Nothing was more important for the Mexica than to have so successfully captured the Toltec heritage. For they assigned all fine achievements to Toltec initiative. Thus they said that “the true artist works like a true Toltec”; “the good painter is a Toltec, he creates with red and black ink”;35 and “the Toltecs were wise . . . all good, perfect, wonderful, marvellous their houses were beautiful,” tiled in mosaics, smoothed, stuccoed”.36 In practice, however, the Mexica surpassed the Toltecs in artistry as they did in political achievements. The institutions of Tenochtitlan in the early sixteenth century were a combination of Toltec and ancient nomadic Mexican practices, and probably the better for it.


These Mexican re-interpretations of history had been accompanied by a “burning of books” about the past by the Emperor Itzcoatl. Those works could scarcely have been stylish, numerous, or profound. But in place of whatever they contained, the new men created the central myths of Mexico. Old books had presumably given a different picture of Mexican history to what the new rulers wanted to have known. Perhaps the Mexica had taken part in the sacking of Tollan: something which by 1428 they would not have wished to commemorate.37 Anything which suggested that the Mexica had been motivated to set off on their travels by anything so prosaic as a shortage of water in their previous humble dwellings would have been excised. Probably it was now that, to the Toltec myth that all existence had been marked by four ages of four suns, there was added the legend of a fifth sun, that of the Mexica.38 Itzcoatl probably also took the opportunity to destroy such records as there were which described how, in the past, his own office as emperor had once been in some ways inferior to that of the calpultin. These developments can no doubt be seen as an acceptance of the valley’s customs by a previously nomadic tribe.39 But it may also be seen as one more “noble lie” which a group of leaders sets out to propagate in order to inspire their people with a version of history which bears only a tenuous relation to truth.


Mexican life was, finally, bound together, as was that of all the cities of the valley, by a busy, regular programme of festivals, big and small, on which an enormous amount of time, energy and resources was expended. These meticulously arranged ceremonies, associated with the different months of the year, were mostly intended to assure the abundance of rain and the success of agriculture. There were movable feasts too. The main gods were also separately honoured on other special days. Then there were rejoicings to mark inaugurations of new buildings, coronations, the successful conclusions of wars, and the deaths of kings. There were festivals to obtain rain during drought. The Mexica were considered austere by some who paid them tribute, such as the Otomí, who looked on them as prudishly hostile to both nudity and adultery. All the same, the Mexica were without rivals in the amount of time which they devoted to celebration. In the past many ceremonies had been modest, as they continued to be in small places. But in Tenochtitlan under the emperors they had become flamboyant.40


These occasions were marked not only by songs and dancing, accompanied by music from drums, flutes, conch shells, and rattles,41 but by processions – in which the participants dressed in feathers, in dramatic cloaks, in masks and wigs, in jaguar skins, in some circumstances even in the skins of human beings. Those celebrating painted their faces extravagantly. There were theatrical battles between mock gods and mock soldiers. Flowers were important too: for the Mexica “the smelling of flowers was apparently so comforting that they even staved off hunger by so doing”.42 Hallucinogens, as used by wizards and fortune-tellers, played a part. “Whenever there was singing or dancing,” ran one text, “or when the mushrooms were to be eaten, the ruler ordered the songs to be sung.”43


Blood-letting was of great importance: even on ordinary days, emperor and clown, priest and warrior, regularly, with needles from the maguey cactus, took blood from their tongues, or from the lobes of their ears, in acts of self-mutilation in the service of the gods. Sometimes blood would be obtained by passing straws through a hole made in the tongue, the ears, even (by priests) the penis.


At festivals there were other offerings: sometimes of animals or birds, especially quail; but, on an increasingly large scale, human beings, as a rule prisoners of war, or slaves especially bought for the purpose. Most of those sacrificed were men, though boys and girls sometimes took the main parts in these astonishing, often splendid, and sometimes beautiful barbarities.


This form of sacrifice had probably started in the region of Mexico as soon as human settlements began to be made: at, for example, Tehuacan, 120 miles south-east of Mexico, in about 5000 BC. (The Valley of Mexico began to have settled inhabitants practising agriculture about 2500 BC, and had sophisticated calendars by 300 BC.)


The Mexica had probably made human sacrifices on a modest scale before they broke free from the Tepanecs in 1428: in order to please the gods and so, by enabling an elaborately adorned priest to hold up at dawn a bleeding heart (spoken of in these circumstances as “the precious cactus fruit”) to the sun (“the turquoise prince, the soaring eagle”), to postpone for another twenty-four hours the catastrophe of a dark world. The normal procedure was for the victim to be held down on a stone block by four priests. His heart would be plucked out professionally by a chief priest or even the monarch, using a flint knife. The heart would be burned in a brazier. The head would be cut off and held up. The limbs would be ritually eaten, with maize or chilli, by noblemen and successful warriors. (Possibly this Mexican upper class came to enjoy the taste of flesh which they ceremonially ate.)44 The torsos would be thrown away, or given to animals in one of the zoos. This remained the classic method of sacrifice, though there were variations, involving shooting by bows and arrows, by the use of gladiatorial combat of a rather limited kind, or the offering, in certain circumstances, of children.45


Up till the middle of the fifteenth century, even among the Mexica, human sacrifice may have been confined to the slave or captive who had been selected to impersonate a deity, live and be dressed like him for a time, and then be killed, with fitting ceremony. Perhaps, as suggested in a text of the 1540s, a people victorious in war might sacrifice one slave (their “best slave”) to give thanks.46 But from the 1430s onwards, when the Mexica embarked on their drive to empire, sacrifices were ever more frequent.


This was probably the consequence of the long domination of Tenochtitlan by Tlacaelel, the cihuacoatl, or deputy, to four emperors, including his uncle Itzcoatl.47 He stressed the ever greater role of Huitzilopochtli to the exclusion of other gods. He was the architect of Mexican military expansion. He inspired Itzcoatl’s burning of books.48


The increase in sacrifice was on so lavish a scale that the author of one codex believed (wrongly) that, before 1484, there had been no offerings of human beings at all, only of quail or animals.49 The innumerable prisoners who died on fourteen pyramids over four days, with long lines of victims stretching from the site of the temple in four directions, as far as the eye could see, at a festival in 1487 to mark the inauguration of the new temple to Huitzilopochtli in Tenochtitlan, had no precedent. No evidence exists which enables anything more realistic than a good guess.50 A conquistador, Andrés de Tapia, estimated the number of skulls hanging on the rack in Tenochtitlan at 136,000.51 But a modern ethnologist has pointed out that, from Tapia’s own measurements, there could not have been more than 60,000 at most, and probably many fewer, since the rack could not have filled the space described.52 Probably that ratio of reduction is one to be applied to most estimates of the sixteenth century. Perhaps the chronicler Fr. Diego Durán was nearer the usual figure when he explained that, at the funeral of King Axayácatl in 1479, fifty or sixty hunchbacks and slaves were offered.53


[image: map]


All the same, the blood of sacrificed victims was regularly spattered, as if it were holy water, over the doors, pillars, staircases and courts of Mexican temples and houses. As captives became scarce because of the decline in victorious wars, previously conquered places offered slaves, or even common people, as if they were tribute: particularly children.54 By the early sixteenth century, the Mexica’s own poor had begun to offer their children as victims. (Children anyway were needed for several of the festivals to Tlaloc, the rain god.)55


Mercy was as foreign to the Mexica as it had been to the ancient Greeks. What after all are life and death but two sides of the same reality? as the potters of Tlatilco suggested when they made their double faces, one part alive, the other a skull.56 Was not death a handing-over of something which everyone knew had one day to be transferred? (The Nahuatl word for sacrifice, nextlaoaliztli, meant literally an “act of payment”.) Were not boys educated to look on the “flowery death” by the “obsidian knife” as the honourable way to die (along with the more infrequent death on the battlefield, and, in the case of women, childbirth)? The gods had no interest in those who died from normal diseases, or of old age. Those who suffered under “the obsidian knife” were assured a place in a better afterlife – in Omeyocan, the paradise of the sun – than those who died conventionally (in practice a flint knife was used for sacrifice, for obsidian is brittle: but the latter stone was used as a metaphor). Ordinary souls were supposed merely to go to Mictlan, grey underworld of annihilation. Those sacrificed were often given the benefit of hallucinogenic doses in order to make them accept their fate; or, at least, a good drink of pulque.57 It must be doubtful, though, whether all were so well looked after.


Fr. Durán wrote in the 1550s: “many times did I ask Indians why they could not have been content to offer quail, turtle doves, or other birds”, to receive the answer that those were “offerings of the poor; while to offer prisoners of war or slaves was something suitable for great lords and knights”.58


Enemies and friends alike of the Mexicans found acceptable this shedding of blood, and the ritual eating of the sacrificed victims’ limbs. The population seems to have been spellbound by the drama, the beauty and the terror of the event. Yet there are just one or two hints that there was disquiet, at least, at the increase in the scale of the sacrificial procedure. Thus the visiting rulers who went (secretly) to Tenochtitlan for the opening of the new temple are said to have been shocked by the scale of what they saw.59 (That was partly, no doubt, the intention.) Nor is it easy to accept that the poor were happy that their children should be sacrificed. The cult of Quetzalcoatl at Cholula must have been a focus of enmity to sacrifice, for that god was against this kind of offering. Disputes over human sacrifice may have first divided and then destroyed the Toltecs. Hostility to the increase of sacrifice in Tenochtitlan may, too, have been one motive for the revolt of the Tlatelolca in 1473: the King of the city, Moquihuix, is said to have sought help from other cities on the ground that the Tenochca were waging wars in order to keep their priests happy with captives for victims.


The achievements of the Mexica should not be overshadowed by consideration of this to us unacceptable side of their practices. Human sacrifices have, after all, been carried out in innumerable places in the West. Brazilian tribes also sacrificed prisoners of war (to symbolise revenge). The Caribs of the Windward Islands ate slices of enemy warriors’ flesh in order to acquire their prowess. Yet in numbers, in the elevated sense of ceremony which accompanied the theatrical shows involved, as in its significance in the official religion, human sacrifice in Mexico was unique.
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I see misfortune come


“I see misfortune come, it shudders in the temple. Shields burn, it is the place of smoke, there where the Gods are created. I see misfortune come, it shudders in the temple.”


Warrior song, tr. Irene Nicholson, Firefly in the Night


“LOOSELY KNIT EMPIRE”, “confederation”, “mercantile economy backed by military force”, whatever name is given to old Mexico in a table of the political enterprises of history, it seemed an overpoweringly formidable undertaking to its neighbours and tributaries.1 Yet despite the grandeur of the wonderful city, the near-universal education, the remarkable attitudes to law, the poetry, the military successes, the artistic achievements, and the brilliant festivals, there were certain anxieties in Tenochtitlan.


These came not, of course, from the absence of the wheel, of the arch, of metal tools, of domestic animals for traction, nor even of proper writing. Nor was there any difficulty caused because men had sandals and women went barefoot. Perhaps the festivals had begun, in several ways to sacrifice too many people, or even to rely excessively on the “divine mushroom”. If so, these were not matters for despair.


The first concern derived from the fact that the Mexica had constructed their history on a myth of eventual cataclysm. This myth, as has been seen, suggested that the world had already been through four eras, lit by four separate suns. The existing time, that of the Fifth Sun, would, everyone knew, one day come to an end.


The general acceptance of that legend, comparable to the Norse fear of the terrible day when Odin would meet the wolf, was one reason for pessimism among the Mexican upper class, despite their wealth, luxurious life, success, and power. Though the Mexica certainly were dominated by a cyclical calendar, their universe did not seem static. On the contrary, it was dynamic. Divine content might be followed by divine calamity.


The Mexica and the people in their dependent polities lived, too, with the memory of the ruin of past cities. In particular they lived, as we have seen, in the shadow of Tollan. The people of that civilisation, the Toltecs, immaculate in their blue sandals though they had seemed, had been overthrown. Even their gods had been dispersed. If such superior people could be ruined, what hope of immortality could there be for the Mexica?


Nor was Tollan the only great place to have vanished. The Mexica knew nothing of the glories of the Mayas in Yucatan in the fifth and sixth centuries. Palenque and Tikal were as unknown to them as they were to Europeans.2 But everyone in Tenochtitlan knew that, ten miles from the shores of the lake to the north-east, there had once been another city, Teotihuacan, whose mysterious pyramids, now covered in brushwood, were a byword for their size. Nobody knew (nor knows) what people had flourished there, nor what language they had spoken. But the name of that ruin (the word meant “city of the gods”) was recalled as a reminder of the ephemeral nature of greatness: “there in Teotihuacan” was a frequently used phrase indicating the past.3 Remarkable for its mural paintings, its fall had been more complete, perhaps more sudden, than that of Tollan. It had been in truth far grander than Tollan, if the remains to be seen at Tula indicate anything. Its eclipse had affected those who came after it as if it had been the fall of Rome. The comparison is not extravagant. Teotihuacan, at its height, probably had a population larger than Tenochtitlan’s. Its size, sculpture, painting, architecture, its special districts reserved for diverse crafts, made it, at the time of its collapse in AD 650, without an equivalent in the world save in China. In 1518, the Emperor of Tenochtitlan and his priests went there every twenty days to make sacrifices.4


There was thus a concern among the Mexica with the possibility of catastrophe. When they assumed power, the emperors of the Mexica were called upon to address their citizens in grand terms, which ritualistically anticipated the worst. They asked, amongst other things, “What will result when . . . [the] lord of the near, of the nigh, makes thy city a place of desolation? What will result when it . . . lieth abandoned? . . . And what will result when filth, when vice, have come upon me? What will result when I have ruined the city? . . . What will happen when I cast the common folk into the torrent, cast them from the crag?” At those same imperial inaugurations, a nobleman was called on to demand: “Wilt thou fear the declaration of war . . . will perhaps the city be shot with arrows? Will it be surrounded by enemies? . . . Wilt thou fear that perhaps the city will crumble, will scatter? . . . Perhaps there will be . . . tremors” and the city be abandoned? Will it be darkened? Will it perhaps become a place of desolation? And will there be enslavement? . . .5


King Nezahualcoyotl of Texcoco had written many poems which breathed an air of the evanescence of human achievement. His most famous one included the injunction:


Ponder this, eagle and jaguar knights,


Though you are carved in jade, you will break;


Though you are made of gold, you will crack;


Even though you are a quetzal feather, you will wither.


We are not forever on this earth;


Only for a time are we here.6


Rulers would ritually tell their daughters: “Difficult is the world, a place where one is caused to weep, a place where one is caused pain. Affliction is known. And the cold wind passeth, glideth by . . . it is a place of thirst, . . . of hunger.”7


Still, ritual anxiety about the long-term future is often combined with short-term resolution, pride, and aggression. It was so in the case of the Mexica: a fact which made them not unlike those Europeans who, despite a reasonable fear of hell, would shortly make an impertinent appearance on the eastern shores of the Mexican empire.


A second concern was that the Mexica never forgot that they were newcomers. They had rewritten the history of their past, it is true. The reality of what had happened to them before 1428 (when Itzcoatl had burned the old histories), much less before 1376 (when Acampichtli was said to have come to the throne), was, and is, impossible to know. The Mexica had captured the Toltec heritage. But they knew that originally they had been a nomadic tribe which had descended on sedentary peoples of higher culture than they.


The completion of a great city in which their god Huitzilopochtli sat by the side of the rain deity Tlaloc, the assumption of power of a royal house with Toltec origins, and the successful effort to create a nobility with Toltec blood should have removed the Mexican sense of inferiority. It seems not to have done.


There were also some material reasons for concern. The first was that the climate made the economies of all the cities of the valley, but of Tenochtitlan especially, uncertain. Rain fell only between July and November. Every winter, between November and February, was a crisis. An early frost could, of course, ruin harvests. Droughts were also not infrequent. Stores of maize were kept against such occurrences. But there had been times when the crises had been prolonged. In the 1450s, within the living memory of old men, drought had caused famine for several years. A freak snow storm sank many chinampas. The reserve of food had been inadequate. Thousands died.8


Then the lake was subject to storms which could in a short time fill the basin with too much water and which took a long time to drain. In 1499 there had been a major flood, because of an unwise decision. Much of Tenochtitlan had been lost. The Emperor, Ahuítzotl, whose policies on the supply of water had partly led to the disaster, was discredited. A new city was built. It was more beautiful than its predecessor. But the event constituted a reminder of the ease with which a civilisation built on a lake could fall.


Harvests were also adversely affected by rigid attention to interpretations of the calendar. Fr. Durán recalled that he once “asked an old man why he sowed beans so late, since there was hardly a year when they were not caught by frost. He told me that everything had its number, its reason, and its special day . . . In many places, they would not gather the harvest even though it was lost, until the old men told them that it was time . . .”9


Another difficulty was that the economy of Tenochtitlan had begun to depend on tribute. The population had in the last hundred years grown greatly.10 So local maize was in increasingly short supply. At the same time, a substantial proportion of the population of Tenochtitlan was now engaged in services and crafts: as sandalmakers, sellers of fuel, weavers of mats, potters, carriers; or, as featherworkers and goldsmiths, making use of raw materials which reached them by trade.11 Supplies of obsidian, previously secured from inside the valley, and salt (much sought after), from the lakeshore, were also becoming scarce, as were those of easily obtainable game and wood.


So the extra supplies made available by tribute had started to seem necessary. But there was more to the problem than that. The pampered official class now found it essential to have tropical fruit and cocoa. Noblemen could not do without their annual 15,000 jars of honey, not to speak of their regular supply of over 200,000 cotton cloaks of different sizes.12 The Emperor also needed some of these things, in a society without money, to compensate officials for services. To begin with, such “payments” had been in land. But there was now less of that to be come by. The festivals too, which had become ever more grandiose, needed luxuries, both as presents for the gods, and as decorations for the participants. The schools, temples and courts had to be sustained; the officials, public works, the professional soldiers and also the stewards who supervised the collection of tribute all had to be compensated. The Mexica needed colour. Tribute, with its supplies of cochineal and other dyes, made it possible.13 Even the waging of wars required the war tunics and weapons imported as tribute.


So the maintenance of what had come to be thought of as normal life depended on the thousands of bearers, tamemes, who, with carefully made backpacks, trundled their way across the mountains, and along the river beds, with the tribute from the subject cities: trains of men which must have made a fine sight en route, for they brought decorative birds, winged insects, flowers, and wonderful feathers, as well as prosaic things such as fruit, beans, cocoa beans, honeycombs, cloaks, cotton armour, and bows and arrows – not to speak of pretty girls and boys for sacrifice. Travelling fifteen miles in five hours each day, and carrying loads of fifty pounds, the bearers compensated for the absence of animals of traction as of wheeled vehicles14 (the American horse was long extinct; cattle had never existed; and wheels were confined to toys).15 The most exotic items of tribute (jade, precious quetzal feathers, gold, copper) came from the furthest and most recently conquered peoples. Some cities provided Tenochtitlan with personal service. Others sent people to act as audiences at festivals. In some places, the best lands were farmed for the benefit of the Mexica. All these offerings were carefully recorded on paper made from the inner bark of the wild fig tree (amatl).16 Though important towns had to suffer Mexican stewards (calpixque), and though there were some garrisons, the tributary system avoided the cost of a centralised empire. Provided the right city dispatched the right goods at the right time, it was left alone to govern itself. Yet many subject territories found the demands onerous. Many were restless and resentful. A few were ready for rebellion.


Another cause for disquiet should have been an increasing stratification of Mexican society. In the early days most heads of families seem to have been concerned in the election of a monarch. Now the electoral college was confined to grandees. The attitude of the monarch to his subjects was expressed in the wording of his invitation to the leaders of other cities to come to Mexican festivals. They were to do so in private, since “they did not wish the common people . . . to suspect that kings and rulers made alliances, reached agreements and found friendships at the cost of the life of the common man”.17 Secret alliances secretly arrived at were the rule.


Then the fifteenth century had seen the deliberate creation, it will be remembered, of a class of nobility, pipiltin, most of whom were descended from King Acampichtli.18 Several later kings had had vast families by numerous wives. No doubt the chroniclers exaggerated when they said that Nezahualpilli, King of Texcoco, who died in 1515, had one hundred and forty-four children; but, with a well-tended harem, anything is possible. The power of these half-royal nobles was increased by the distribution of conquered land, together with those who worked it, directly to them, enabling them to bypass, in their loyalties, the traditional clans of Tenochtitlan, the calpultin. Perhaps they acquired a rigid approach from those whom they conquered: when Maxtla, King of Azcapotzalco, put a price on the head of Nezahualcoyotl, of Texcoco, then a fugitive, he offered land to anyone who captured him, “even if he were a plebeian”.19


The Emperor in the 1460s, Montezuma I, consolidated the stratification by introducing a series of rules of conduct, “sparks of a divine fire”, as they were improbably named, to ensure that “all might live within their status”.20 These established demarcations between monarchs and lords, lords and high officials, high officials and lower ones, lower officials and ordinary people. There were distinctions between an upper class of grand lords and a lower class of inferior ones. Differences of dress and forms of address were accentuated: noblemen now wore embroidered cotton cloaks and loincloths, golden sandals, earrings, and labrets. Ordinary people could not wear cotton, but had to be content with clothes made from maguey fibre. Their cloaks had to stop at the knee. They could not wear sandals in the presence of superiors. Noblemen alone could build houses with two storeys, only nobles could drink chocolate, while ordinary families were obliged to use earthenware rather than painted or glazed pottery as bowls and plates.21


Perhaps these rules were not kept to. Commoners who distinguished themselves in war were rewarded with grants of land, or released from payments of tribute. They might even wear cotton. All the same, opportunities for prowess were easier for the nobility, whose members alone were allowed to use swords, the weapons likely to lead to feats of arms. Further, if a family were not directly descended from the Toltecs (through Acampichtli), it could never be assimilated into the upper class. Mobility of every kind was condemned: “Where a man’s father and ancestors had lived, there must a man live and end his days.”22


The Emperor Montezuma II took these discriminations further. All officials, and even all priests, were henceforth to come from the highest class – in practice, members of the large extended royal family.23 Even within that great family, offices tended to become hereditary. Quite logically, from his own point of view, Montezuma II closed the special schools, the calmécac, to all but the highborn. Previously, promising boys of humble birth could aspire to become priests and thus join one of those austere establishments.


The social structure, therefore, in 1518, seemed more rigid than it had been. This presumably appeared natural to people governed by the calendars as to when to do such and such: “If chilli were not sown on a certain day, squash on another, maize on another, and so forth, people thought that there would be great damage.”24 The calendars thus encouraged people to be content with their lot. The ancient Mexicans “were set against all form of change and renovation”, wrote a famous modern scholar, “a will to the immutable was engraved in their style of culture . . . in their art . . . [and] a tendency to repeat the same forms is noticeable”.25


The isolation of the Emperor was in 1518 greater than ever. Montezuma II had more attendants and guards, jugglers and acrobats, jesters and dancers than his predecessors. After him in order of precedence came the principal advisers, the inner royal family, the senior administrators and the nobility, pipiltin, of whom the grandest twenty-one families had imposing titles. They had splendid palaces, where they gave feasts and listened to young men reading poems, or to elderly men discussing the wisdom of the ages. They lived from the produce of land outside Tenochtitlan. Their ancestors had built, or inspired the building of, the great city. They now counted on its size and imposing edifices to overwhelm psychologically both visitors from other cities and the poorer members of their own people.


The main difference within old Mexico (a remarkable similarity to Europe) lay between the tribute-payers and the fiscally exempt. The latter class included nobility, priests, and children, minor or local administrators, priests, and teachers. It also included the leaders of the calpultin, and those common men who, through military prowess, had begun to ascend the slippery pole of social advancement. It embraced the craftsmen, the merchants and some farmers.


Within this exempt class, the differences were a matter of interest groups. In comparison with the priests, the merchants could not be said to be superior or inferior. They were powerful in their own right. Both merchants and craftsmen operated as families, on a small if effective scale. All professional, full-time workmen, once they were organised in guilds, seem to have become hereditary (some, such as the manuscript painters, may have been ethnically different).26 Most noblemen also had some craft or activity: “nobody has seen anyone living on nobility alone”, a head of a great family said to his sons.27


Among the Mexican masses who did pay tribute or had duties there were also categories: first, the labourers, or commoners, macehualtin, who participated in calpultin. A macehual had the use of specified land which he could pass on to his children. In certain circumstances he could sell it. Even though he might for part of his time do good work as a craftsman, if he did not keep his land cultivated, the calpulli could in theory take it from him. He was obliged through his calpulli to serve in the army, participate in public works, take part in festivals, and above all pay tribute: much the same as a tax.


Macehualtin formed the bulk of Mexican society. Nothing suggests that they were resentful at their lot. Presumably those in Tenochtitlan knew that they were favourably placed in comparison with their equivalents in dependent cities. What impressed an observant Spanish judge, though, among those Mexicans whom, many years later, he saw working on public works, was the “merriment and great rejoicing” which went on. “It is well known that Montezuma gave tasks to Indians in order to entertain them,” was the comment of another witness.28


Less clearly differentiated were the mayeques, a class comparable to European serfs, being neither slave nor free. They were men, or families, who worked on other people’s land, particularly noblemen’s land. They may have been more a profession than a class and accounted for a third of the population.29 They were probably descendants of earlier, or conquered, populations; or children of slaves: poor people, compared to “bumblebees” or “hornets” on the edge of feasts, waiting for a charitable distribution of maize stews. On lakeside properties, their services seem often to have been part of the original grant of land.30 They were subject to the laws of the Mexica, and were obliged to fight in their wars. But they could not participate in communal activities. Perhaps their standard of living, and their capacity for individual decision, was not much less, if less at all, than that of the macehualtin. Yet “they were, and are, so subservient,” wrote a Spanish official in 1532, “that even if they are about to be killed or sold, they do not speak . . .”31


Finally, in the classification of these ancient Mexicans, there were a few real slaves, tlatlacotin, who were in a way more favoured than their European counterparts, since they could own property, buy their liberty, and marry free women or men. Their children were born free. If they escaped into the royal palace, they became automatically free. But there was one serious disadvantage: they could be sacrificed. Some have even suggested that they were mostly sacrificed, having often been bought in the market at Tlatelolco for that purpose.32


Many of these slaves were macehualtin who had committed crimes or who had failed to meet levies for tribute; peasants who had become slaves when sold by families who needed food; or prisoners awaiting sacrifice. Some too were people who had made themselves slaves voluntarily, to escape the responsibilities of normal life. Slaves played a minor part in the economy in the Valley of Mexico, though a greater one in the subtropical east.


The contrast between the poverty and the riches at the two extremes in Mexican society seems to have been every year more remarkable. Witnesses told Fr. Sahagún how the Emperor’s palace, the tecpan, was “a fearful place, a place of fear, of glory . . . There is bragging, there is boasting; there are haughtiness, pride, presumption, arrogance. There is self-praise, there is . . . gaudiness . . . it is a place where one is intoxicated, flattered, perverted.” The eagle and jaguar knights flaunted themselves.33 Meantime, the poor probably ate less well than they had used to: there was a greater dependence on maize, less often varied with game. Perhaps they had begun to take refuge in the only way open to them: drink. For despite the heavy punishments for drinking, pulque was, all the same, more and more consumed, by lords and poor alike. The Florentine Codex contains a vivid picture of the evils resulting – a temptation to which those born on the day called 2-Rabbit were, it was said, especially prone; or doomed.34


Old men in Mexico probably thought that what was disturbing in the Tenochtitlan of their day was less this contrast between the classes than the decline in the power of the calpultin. These clans had managed society in the primitive days. Membership of them had made it possible for ordinary men and women to feel part of the collectivity. Calpultin still performed essential services. Yet these seem to have been carried out in the early sixteenth century more as if they were lessons learned by rote than out of a willing collaboration with the state, a newfangled thing with disagreeable pretensions. There was a conflict between calpultin and government, since the Emperor increasingly conducted himself as if he were the authority which granted land, while the lore of the calpultin was that it was theirs in the first place. Meantime the determining matters in Mexican society, the management of appeals for rain, and the interpretation of the calendar, were of course in the hands of the administration or of the priesthood.


The Mexica also had some political problems. For example, forty years before, Tlatelolco (“earth-hillock”), then a semi-independent mercantile city, a mile to the north, on an island linked to Tenochtitlan by several broad causeways, whose population was also Mexican, but who had enjoyed a separate line of monarchs, had made a bid for full independence. The acute stage of the crisis derived from a quarrel of the sort which could have led to a war in Europe: the King of Tlatelolco, Moquihuix, tired of his wife, Chalchiuhnenetzin, a sister of the Emperor of Mexico (she was too thin, her breath was bad). Mexican honour was outraged.35 Tlatelolco was invaded and defeated. The last king of Tlatelolco jumped off the Great Temple in the marketplace when he saw that defeat was inevitable. It, and its subject cities, were incorporated into Tenochtitlan as a fifth “quarter” of that city. Its inhabitants, though a branch of the Mexica, thenceforth paid tribute to a “military governor”, Itzquauhtzin, a brother of the Emperor, who was still in office in 1518. Its famous market was divided up between the victors. But the Tlatelolca were bitter. They warmly, if secretly, welcomed any difficulty for Tenochtitlan.36


The Mexica had also had their military setbacks. Under a rash emperor, Axayácatl, they had in 1479–80, been defeated, a hundred and thirty miles to the north-west, by the Purépecha (a people known to the Spaniards as Tarascans).37 Those worshippers of the little green hummingbird maintained a small empire of some twenty cities (roughly coterminous with the modern Mexican state of Michoacan). They were the only people of the region to possess such metallurgical techniques as cold-hammering, casting, soldering, and gold-plating. This enabled them not only to produce remarkable copper masks, copper bells shaped as turtles, fish with gold bodies and silver fins, and lip plugs of laminated turquoise, but to make copper weapons. Their political life was less complex than that of Mexico, their capital city Tzintzuntzan far smaller, their clothes less sophisticated. But their metallurgy was superior. The Mexican soldiers in consequence had in battle against them died in hundreds, “like flies which fell into the water”.38


Undisciplined nomads of the north whom the Mexicans called the Chichimecs were also unconquered. (The word chichimec meant people with lineage (mecatl) of dogs (chichi), men who ate meat raw and drank the blood of the animals which they killed.)39


The Mexican empire seemed too to have reached its limits. Successive monarchs had extended the frontiers, partly out of the need to guarantee resources from the temperate or hot zones, partly for the same reasons as most empires have expanded: it is difficult to draw a halt to the habit of aggression. But further major wars were difficult to conceive. The expeditions of the Emperor Ahuítzotl, at the end of the fifteenth century, towards what is now known as Central America, had made the populace restless at the idea of distant conflicts. Soldiers after all were not professionals: they were most of the time farmers with fields to tend. It was true that the Mayas in Yucatan had not been conquered. But Yucatan was far. The Mexica preferred to trade with them. It was also hard work to bring home prisoners from a great distance.40 The Tarascans blocked further advances in the north. For a people primarily organised for war, it was unnerving to find that there were no more worlds to conquer.


The Mexica had come to lay weight on a strange stratagem to meet some of the consequences: “wars of flowers”. There were certain cities just over the mountains to the east, which the Mexica had found it difficult to defeat. These were Cholula, Huexotzinco, Atlixco, Tliliuhquitepec and, above all, Tlaxcala. These cities would be allowed a token independence. Their people might even be allowed to assume that the independence was total. But their leaders would permit a “military fair” (the expression of Tlacaelel, the long-living cihuacoatl, the deputy emperor) to be staged: let a convenient market be sought where the god may go with his army to buy victims and people to eat, as if he were to go to a nearby place to buy tortillas.41 The Mexica would gain experience of war. The battles would be good propaganda. Prisoners would be obtained for the sacrificial stones.


The cities concerned collaborated, to save themselves from absorption, in a design which by 1518 had lasted, off and on, about seventy years. These strange conflicts were marked by setting aside a special day for the battle in a previously selected place. The fight would begin with the burning of a pyre of paper, and the distribution of incense between the armies.


Such wars for display, as a kind of game or even a sacrament, were not new in the fifteenth century. The Mexica had fought just such a war (in which no one had died) with Chalco in 1375. Perhaps they had been begun in the days of Teotihuacan. But the scheme was elaborated extravagantly.42


By 1518 this convention had almost broken down. Partly that was because the Mexican appetite for prisoners was difficult to contain. Partly it was because the cities beyond the volcanoes did not establish a modus vivendi between themselves. Several wars between them were the reverse of theatrical. Their conflicts with the Mexica seemed also to be becoming serious: particularly those of the Tlaxcalans. In 1504, for example, the latter defeated the Mexica in a “flowery” engagement which turned into a genuine war. Much the same happened two years later in respect of a Mexican war with Huexotzinco. Thousands of Mexicans were captured. A Mexican army returned humiliated to Tenochtitlan. The Mexica next imposed sanctions on Tlaxcala: there would be no trading in cotton, nor in salt. That was serious for Tlaxcala since the Mexica had recently completed the process of making dependencies out of all the territory surrounding them, including the tropical land to the east. The Tlaxcalans, led by old and experienced lords, held out. Real hatred of the Mexica, not a “flowery” kind, grew in their city. This was the worse, no doubt, since the Tlaxcalan leaders must have feared that, had the Mexica given them their full attention, they could probably have crushed them.


Tlaxcala soon defeated Huexotzinco in a serious engagement. Huexotzinco swallowed its pride and asked the Mexica for help. The Mexica gave their leaders sanctuary at Tenochtitlan. A Mexican army occupied Huexotzinco. Another battle was fought with Tlaxcala in 1517. On this occasion, the Mexicans at least did not lose. The people of Huexotzinco went home. But the return seems to have been made possible by an arrangement between that city and Tlaxcala, whose bitterness and self-confidence were alike enhanced. The Mexica also offended the people of Huexotzinco by insisting, as a return for their help, that Camaxtli, the special goddess of Huexotzinco, should be installed in their newly opened temple in Tenochtitlan for conquered deities.


Another difficulty concerned the relation of the Mexica with their ally Texcoco, the cultivated city on the east side of the lake. Though much smaller than Tenochtitlan, it boasted beautiful palaces, lovely gardens, interesting temples, and a prosperous agriculture in fields nearby. Several irritants harmed relations. Thus Nezahualpilli, King of Texcoco, infuriated the Mexica in 1498 by executing his young Mexican wife for her adultery (she was a sister of the future Mexican emperor, Montezuma). She was garrotted in public “as if she had been a plebeian”.43 Then Nezahualpilli was offended by the Mexica: he had been a friend of the ruler of Coyoacan whom the late Emperor Ahuítzotl had murdered for giving him advice about the water supply (it had been the right advice). Nezahualpilli next distressed the Mexica again by acting as permanent host to Macuilmalinal, the Emperor Montezuma’s elder brother, who had been passed over in the election for the empire and who then married one of his, Nezahualpilli’s, daughters. The Mexica responded in a cold-blooded fashion. They devised a “flowery war” for Texcoco with Huexotzinco. Macuilmalinal, however, allowed himself to be killed in action – defying the convention that it would be better to accept death on the sacrificial block. A son of Nezahualpilli was also captured and sacrificed. Nezahualpilli died of grief, perhaps by suicide.


That monarch left an uncertain heritage. To begin with, the succession was unclear. The late king had many children but none by his “legitimate wife”. He himself had had executed his eldest son by that lady, Huexotzincatzin, an “outstanding philospher and poet”, for making advances to his own favourite concubine, “the lady of Tula”.44 The electors of the new tlatoani were the lords of the Texcocan towns and the Mexican emperor. The latter supported his nephew, Cacama, an “illegitimate” son of the late king by that sister of his own whom Nezahualpilli had executed. His vote was the determining one. But another son, Ixtlilxochitl, a brother of Cacama, refused to accept that decision. He raised a rebellion in the mountains. Civil war thereupon began in territory close to the lake. It was sporadic, but it seemed serious. Ixtlilxochitl conquered several towns. A compromise was reached. Cacama was to be looked on as King. But Ixtlilxochitl would be considered lord of the cities which he had captured. Texcoco remained an ally of Tenochtitlan. But it could not be looked upon as so committed a one as had been the case in the past. Trouble so near at home seemed yet one more peril facing the proud Mexica.
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Not with love but with fear


“Montezuma said to the Marquis of the Valley when he saw him giving a present to some Indian that . . . these people did not like being treated with love but with fear.”


Jerónimo López to Charles V, 1544


THE MEXICA HAD a trading outpost at Xicallanco, on the edge of a lagoon far down the Gulf of Mexico which might have been regarded as the lodge gate to Yucatan. From there, about 1502, they heard rumours of the appearance of bearded white men on the Caribbean coasts beyond Yucatan. The strangers sounded as if they were men of peculiar ferocity. Stories may have reached Mexico of what had recently been happening in the larger islands of the Caribbean: which (though this is to anticipate) would not have needed to be exaggerated to be frightening. A canoe of natives from the island of Jamaica was lost off Yucatan, with one or two survivors, about 1512. Those people would have had unpleasant stories to tell: or to indicate with signs, since the Maya language was quite different from that of the people of Yucatan or of Mexico.1


A trunk was then brought to Tenochtitlan from the Gulf of Mexico. It had been washed up on the shore. Inside were several suits of clothes, some jewels and a sword. Whose possessions were they? No one had ever seen anything like them before. The Emperor Montezuma divided the contents between the kings of Tacuba and Texcoco.2 A little later a message came from Yucatan, probably sent by a Mexican merchant. It was a folded manuscript. This depicted three white temples at sea floating on large canoes.3


Montezuma asked his chief advisers what to do. They were not as perturbed as he was. They recommended further consultations with the god Huitzilopochtli. He then consulted the priests. Forewarned, they were noncommittal. Montezuma punished some of them.4


Then merchants from Xicallanco seem to have sent more reports of strange new men. This probably confirmed stories from other Mexican outposts farther south down the isthmus of Central America.5 The Mexica would thus perhaps have heard of a colony of white men which had been established in 1513 only a thousand miles (as the crow flies) south-east of Yucatan, in Darien.6


It was also, later, reported that in Mexico, after about 1502, a series of phenomena were observed which seemed to presage difficult times. First, for example, a tongue of fire in the sky, presumably a comet of unusual brilliance, was said to have been seen every night for a year. Then the thatched roof of the temple of Huitzilopochtli caught fire on top of the great pyramid: the flames could not be put out. Another temple, that of a more ancient deity, Xiuhtecuhtli, the god of fire (also known as the lord of the turquoise and even as the father and mother of the gods),7 was destroyed by what was described as a noiseless thunderbolt. This was especially alarming, since fire, expressed by family hearths and braziers before temples, was looked upon as one of the great achievements of the gods. Then a comet was said to have fallen sharply in the sky, to have divided into three, and to have scattered sparks throughout the Valley of Mexico. The water of the lake foamed for no reason; many houses built next to the water were flooded. Cries were reported to have been heard at night from a woman who was never identified: she cried, “O my beloved sons, we are all going to die”; and “My beloved sons, where shall I hide you?” Some strange, two-headed people were then said to have appeared. They were taken to Montezuma’s special zoo for human beings, where misfits were kept. There they vanished.


The most famous tale of this time is the most esoteric: some fishermen were said to have found a bird like a crane, of an ashen colour. They showed it to the Emperor, who saw a mirror on its head. In the mirror, he observed the heavens and the stars, and then a number of men riding on deer, approaching as for war. The Emperor is said to have summoned specialist wise men. He asked them for their interpretation. But when they looked, the vision, the mirror, and the bird had all disappeared.8


All these predictions were said to have occurred in the Valley of Mexico. There were believed to have been similar portents among the Tarascans, to the north-west, as on the other side of the mountains, in Tlaxcala. Even in Yucatan, a prophet known as Ah Cambal was later recalled for having publicly announced that the people would “soon be subject to a foreign race”.9


The King of Texcoco, the learned Nezahualpilli, was still alive when these things were said to have been observed. He had a reputation of being the best astrologer in the land. Perhaps relishing the opportunity to cause fear in a man who had humiliated Texcoco, he told the Emperor in Tenochtitlan that the brilliant comet suggested that terrible, frightful things would come. In all their lands, there would be great calamities . . . Death would dominate the land.10 The Emperor said cautiously that his own soothsayers had predicted otherwise. Nezahualpilli suggested that the two of them should hold a series of ritual ball games to decide whose advisers were right. The Mexica were great gamblers. So the Emperor agreed. Nezahualpilli bet his kingdom against three turkeys that his men had predicted well. The Emperor accepted the bet. He won the first two games. But he lost the next three.11


Nezahualpilli also apparently predicted that the Triple Alliance (between the three main cities around the lake) would never win another war of flowers; and that the Mexican empire would be destroyed.12 He insisted on his deathbed in 1514 that he had been told by fortune-tellers that the Mexica would soon be ruled by strangers.


People in old Mexico were often influenced by far less dramatic events than these. Unaccustomed noises or sights of any kind, from the cry of an owl to the sight of a rabbit running into a house, suggested calamities. The call of a white-headed hawk (identified with the sun) might have several interpretations. Anyone whose path was crossed by a weasel might expect a setback.13 The Mexica spent a great deal of time speculating about the significance of such things. This should not be a matter of surprise.


It has been represented that the “portents” never occurred and that the interpretations in consequence were invented later. Machiavelli, in his Discorsi, in these very years (1515–18), remarked: “Both modern and ancient examples go to show that great events never happen in any town or in any country without their having been announced by portents, revelations, prodigious events or other celestial signs.”14 He was writing in Italy: by most standards the most civilised country in Europe. Yet even there, popular imagination, we are told, saw warring armies in any unusual formation of clouds. 1494, the “unlucky year which forever opened the gates of Italy to the foreigner”, was said to have been ushered in by many prophecies of misfortune.15 In all Italian families horoscopes of children were drawn up as a matter of course. Not unlike the Mexica, even the sophisticated Florentines looked on Saturday as a fateful day when everything good or bad had to happen. Leo X, the brilliant humanist who was Pope in 1518, thought the flourishing condition of astrology to be a credit to his pontificate. King Ferdinand the Catholic of Aragon, the model of a modern monarch, listened to prophecies which, accurately as it happened, predicted his acquisition of Naples. In Europe, also, monsters were considered to indicate divine anger: Montaigne, in his essay “On a monster child”, wrote (later in the century) that he had seen a child aged fourteen months who was attached below the breast to another child with no head. He said, “This double body and these sundry limbs all depending on a single head could well provide us with a favourable omen that our king will maintain the sundry parties and factions of our state in unity . . .”16


In a spirit of scepticism engendered by such correspondences between the old world and the new, some have argued that these portents in Mexico were artfully devised in the 1530s or 1540s on the ground that simple people find catastrophes easier to bear if it can be argued that they have been foretold.17


Yet most of these phenomena in Mexico were unsensational. Assuming that one or other of them occurred at all, they might have been forgotten had the Mexican empire subsequently prospered. The unusual glare could have been caused by zodiacal light, or even an aurora borealis. Storms on the Lake of Mexico which caused water to foam were not infrequent. Fires on thatched roofs on the top of pyramids should have been expected since braziers were nearby. The two-headed beings could have been Siamese twins. If they existed, they might easily have been secretly murdered. Both they and the bird with the mirror sound as if they were figments in the imagination of someone who had eaten sacred mushrooms.18


Finally, comets and eclipses were in fact seen in these years: there was a comet in 1489; a total eclipse in 1496; and another comet in 1506.19 This last was sighted in China in July of that year, subsequently in Japan, and then in Spain, where it was thought to have foreshadowed the death of King Philip the Beautiful. In China the comet seemed to be like a pellet, with a “darkish white” colour and faint rays. It had no tail to begin with. The Japanese also recorded it, and described it as “a large sphere with a bluish tint”. It started in the constellation of Orion but, because of the time of the year and the layout of the heavens at that time, the comet would have been close to the sun and so only just visible before sunrise and after dusk. As it drifted westwards, it would have become visible longer into the night. It would have been a spectacular sight by mid-August. It would have appeared every day further and further to the north, would have vanished in the west, and would have developed a long nebulous tail pointing to the south-east.20 The Mexica would have been certain to have drawn some sensational conclusion from this.


The most likely interpretation of the story of these portents is that some, if not all, of them occurred; that given that rumours of atrocious happenings in Panama and the Caribbean had reached Tenochtitlan, gloomy conclusions were instantly drawn; that though they may have been temporarily forgotten, both the portents and the interpretations were recalled in 1519; and that clever Mexicans and friars, writing later of the Mexican empire, were happy to link those memories with what they knew occurred in Europe, adding picturesque details drawn from European classics. (The Spanish friars who told the story of the portents, such as Fr. Olmos, Fr. Motolinía, and Fr. Sahagún, were all born about 1500, and would have remembered the comet of 1506 from their Castilian childhoods.) Stories of men riding on “deer” may have reached Mexico from Darien.


*


The Emperor of the Mexica in these years seemed well equipped to deal with all these difficulties. Montezuma II (his name meant “he who angers himself”) was the fifth ruler since his people had broken away from subjection to the Tepanecs; and the eighth since the royal house had been established at the end of the fourteenth century. He was a son of the rash Emperor Axayácatl, who had lost the war against the copper-armed Tarascans. He came to the throne, or the sacred “mat”, in 1502, and in 1518 was about fifty years old. He was referred to as Montezuma “Xocoyotzin”, “the Younger”, in order to differentiate him from his namesake, his great-grandfather, the conqueror who had ruled in the mid-fifteenth century.21


Montezuma II is one of the few Mexica of those days whom modern readers can see in the round. Most of the others remain two-dimensional, dominated by their offices, their unpronounceable titles often confounded with their difficult names, and hidden in the anonymity of the collective splendour. Montezuma was, like most Mexica, dark and of average height. His hair was wavy, his nose aquiline. He was well proportioned, spare, with a large head and somewhat flat nostrils. He seemed astute, wise and prudent; and in speech sharp, firm and eloquent. “When he spoke, he drew the sympathy of others by his subtle phrases and seduced them by his profound reasoning . . .” His subjects thought him the most eloquent of their rulers.22


Again like most Mexica, he was courteous: “as polite as a Mexican Indian” was a well-known phrase in Spain in the seventeenth century. That courtesy was necessary. Government depended on personal communication; and Montezuma spent most days in consultation. The leaders of the community and their servants would cram the palace, even spill out into the street. When they achieved their audience with the Emperor, they would speak in a quiet voice, without raising their eyes to his. That was an innovation. But, as with many new traditions, it was scrupulously maintained. When Montezuma answered, it was in a voice so low that he did not seem to be moving his lips. When he went into the city, to the temple or to visit one of his secondary palaces, he would be greeted with an extravagant respect: “None of his predecessors attained a fourth part of his majesty,” commented the author of the Codex Mendoza. Most people, when they went to see him, would approach him with bare feet. Fr. Durán asked an old Indian in the 1560s what he looked like. The Indian replied that, though he had lived in proximity to the ruler, he did not know, since he had never dared to look.23


Montezuma was a successful general before he came to the throne. As earlier mentioned, he had also been for a time chief priest. Though he could laugh, even giggle helplessly, and appear kind, he had a name for being inflexible.24 That seemed an advantage. He was said to have had seven corrupt or procrastinatory judges jailed in cages and then killed.25 Montezuma believed that the way to rule was to inspire people “with fear, not affection”.26 His predecessor Ahuítzotl had often acted without consultation of the Supreme Council. Montezuma did the same. He carried out his official duties with solemnity. He seems to have been a stickler for accuracy: thus the festival of the month Tlacaxipehualitzli was supposed to take place when the sun, at the equinox, could be seen in the middle of the Great Temple. Because that edifice was a little out of alignment Montezuma wanted to pull it down and rebuild it.27


He wanted to tighten all rules. For example, he had not only insisted that all official appointments be performed by nobles; he had the old office-holders killed for fear that they might pass on news of what had happened in the past. But it is fair to say that different people held different views: thus Fr. Durán, who talked to survivors of Montezuma’s court, said that he was “modest, virtuous and generous, and with all the virtues which one could look for in a good prince”.28


The Emperor maintained a guard composed of provincial lords, as well as many armed men ready for any emergency. At meals, he would be waited upon by a large number of boys.29 Montezuma would choose a few mouthfuls from the innumerable dishes, while handing on titbits to those wise men who sat with him. He might then be amused by jugglers, jesters, dwarfs and hunchbacks, or listen to music: there were instruments enough to have filled his palace continually with music had he so wished, as had occurred in the days of Ahuítzotl.30 Montezuma had a large family: a legitimate wife (Teotalco, a princess from Tula), and several other important wives (one being the daughter of the King of Tacuba; one the daughter of the ruler of the small city of Ecatepec; and one his cousin, the daughter of the cihuacoatl Tlilpotonqui, Tlacaelel’s heir).31 But he also had numerous concubines. Estimates of his children vary from nineteen to a hundred and fifty, though from his chief wife he was said to have had only three daughters.32 He changed four times every day into separate tunics, none of which he ever wore a second time. His retreats every two hundred and sixty days to the Quauhxicalco, “the house of the ceremonial blood dish”, afforded him good opportunities for sober reflection.33


Montezuma’s reign, though marked by increased inequalities, had had several successes. The conquest of Soconusco, for example, had enabled the realm to be provided for the first time amply with green quetzal feathers: “The craft of feather design,” reported the Florentine Codex, came to fruition in his time.34 He had defeated as many cities as his predecessor, the “conqueror” Ahuítzotl. Many of them were in the fertile coastal region near what is now Veracruz. The rebuilding of Tenochtitlan after the flood caused by Ahuítzotl’s mistakes had been a triumph. Montezuma was responsible for many of the famous works of art (particuarly in stone) which are looked upon as characteristic of the Mexican civilisation.35 He had taken the initiative in establishing a temple of other cities’ gods.36 It was probably under Montezuma that rules were introduced making it obligatory to cultivate land.


*


Having been high priest, Montezuma knew the sacred calendars well. Failing to secure good advice from his counsellors and the priests as to what to do about the mysterious news from the sea, and the “portents”, he sent for magicians. Their responsibilities were, it will be remembered, different from those of the priests. They operated under the authority of the mischievous god Tezcatlipoca, and used all kinds of hallucinatory plants to assist them in their divinations. Montezuma was said by his grandson, the historian Tezozomoc, to have asked: “Have you seen strange omens in the sky? Or on the earth? In the caves under the earth or in the deep lakes?” Had they observed strange weeping women? Or unusual men? Visions or phantasms?37


The magicians said firmly that they had seen nothing of this sort. They could give no advice. Montezuma told his majordomo: “Take away these scoundrels, and lock them up in Cuaulhco prison. They shall talk to me tomorrow.” It was done. Next day, Montezuma called for the majordomo and ordered him to ask the magicians again what they believed was going to happen: “Whether we are going to be struck down by sickness, by hunger, by locusts, by storms on the lake, or by droughts, and whether it will rain torrentially. Let them tell me if we are menaced by war, or if we must expect sudden deaths, or deaths caused by wild beasts. They must not hide the facts from me. They must also tell me if they have heard the voice of the earth goddess Cihuacoatl for, if something unpleasant is going to happen, she is the first to predict it.” (Cihuacoatl, “woman snake”, who so curiously lent her name to the deputy emperor, was the leading deity of the nearby city of Culhuacan.)


The magicians were not helpful. One told the majordomo when he went to the prison: “What can we say? The future is already determined. What has to come, will come.” No one could have quarrelled with that conventional statement. They are also supposed to have added: “A great mystery will come to pass. It will come quickly. If this is what our lord Montezuma wants to know from us, so be it. Since it is bound to happen, he can only await it.”38 (The Historia de los Mexicanos por sus pinturas, a document of the 1530s, probably written by a Franciscan, stated that Montezuma was told by these wizards that the omens indicated that he had to die.)39 Yet another magician, presumably informed about Spanish activities in Central America, said that he foresaw men “with beards coming to this land”.40


The majordomo returned to Montezuma. When he heard of the gloomy predictions, he was alarmed. These men seemed to be agreeing with the predictions of the late King Nezahualpilli. He is said to have asked the majordomo: “Ask whence the danger will come, whatever it is, from the sky or the land, from what direction, what place and when.” The question may have seemed superfluous, for the news of the bad bearded men came from the south and the west.


The majordomo went back to the Cuaulhco prison. When he unlocked the doors, nobody was there. He returned to Montezuma and said: “My lord, command that I be cut to pieces or whatever else you wish, for you should know that, when I reached the prison, there was no one there. Yet I had special guards at the prison, trustworthy men, whom I have known for years. None of them heard the magicians escape. I believe that they flew away, for they know how to make themselves invisible. They do that every night and can fly to the ends of the earth”.


Faced with such a mass escape, Montezuma embarked on a prescription: he ordered the elders in the places where the magicians lived to seize those men’s families, kill them, and destroy their homes. This was apparently done. But the magicians did not reappear.41


Montezuma put similar questions to some randomly chosen ordinary citizens: he received similar disturbing answers. Some people said that they had dreamed of waves sweeping into Montezuma’s palace, of the Great Temple in flames, of lords fleeing to the hills. Perhaps they were recalling stories about the end of the Tepanec capital of Azcapotzalco about ninety years before. Perhaps too they were subject to hallucinogenic delusions. Montezuma imprisoned these unwisely candid dreamers. It was said that he had them starved to death.42


No doubt Montezuma had recourse to conventional divines: including those consulted about the meaning of certain birthdays. We picture them gazing nervously into mirrors of obsidian or jars of water, tying and untying knots, perhaps casting kernels of maize on to the pages of holy books. They too showed themselves inadequate.


Montezuma considered building a new, colossal shrine to Huitzilopochtli. Perhaps that would ward off all evils. He consulted the lord of Cuitláhuac, a small city on the lake whose ruler was said to descend directly from the god Mixcoatl. That potentate bravely replied that that plan would exhaust the people and offend the gods. Montezuma is said also to have had him executed, with all his supposedly holy family. He abandoned the idea of a new temple, though, and turned his attention to trying to bring down a colossal new sacrificial stone from the mountains above Chalco.43


Montezuma’s reaction to the suspicious activities on the coast, and the apparent predictions of the end of his empire, was thus to embark on a frenzied witch-hunt, the reports of which, inadequate though they may be, indicate the freedom enjoyed by the Emperor of the Mexica to carry out all kinds of arbitrary brutalities, even outside the city of Tenochtitlan, if he thought them even momentarily in the public good.


*


In the spring of 1518 a common labourer came to the imperial court. He was unprepossessing, for he was not only dressed roughly, but he was said to have had no ears, no thumbs, and no big toes. He came from Mictlanquauhtla, near the eastern sea: an unpromising beginning, for the word indicated “wood of hell”.44 This individual brought the news that he had seen “a range of mountains, or some big hills, floating in the sea”. Montezuma told his majordomo to put the man in prison and keep him under watch. He ordered one of his four chief advisers, the “Keeper of the House of Darkness”, the tlillancalqui, perhaps his nephew, to go to ask the Mexican steward near the sea if there were something strange on the water; and, if there were, to find out what it was.45


The tlillancalqui and a servant, Cuitlalpitoc (probably a slave), set off for the coast. They were carried in hammocks by experienced bearers. They went first to Cuetlaxtlan, the only place near the coast which had a Mexican steward. It had a small Mexican colony, deriving from emigration during the famine at Tenochtitlan of the 1450s. The steward, Pinotl, told the emissaries to rest. Some of his people would go and see what there was to see.


The people concerned came back to say that the news was true: two towers, or little hills, were to be seen on the sea, moving backwards and forwards. The agents of Montezuma insisted on going to look for themselves. In order not to expose themselves, they climbed a tree near the shore. They saw that the deformed peasant had told the truth. There certainly were mountains on the waves. After a while, they saw a number of men coming towards land in a small boat, to fish. They had hooks and a net: methods of fishing familiar to the Mexicans. But they heard unfamiliar talk and laughter. The tlillancalqui and Cuitlalpitoc later saw the boat returning to one of the objects in the sea. They themselves climbed down from the tree, returned to Cuetlaxtlan, and made their way quickly to Tenochtitlan.


When they reached that capital, they went directly to Montezuma’s palace. After the usual greetings, the tlillancalqui is reported to have said: “It is true that there have come to the shore I do not know what kind of people. Some of them were fishing there with rods; others, with a net. Until very late they were fishing. Then they got into a canoe and went back to the thing on the sea with the two towers, and went into it. There must have been about fifteen of them, some with red bags, some blue, others grey and green . . . and some of them had red handkerchiefs on their heads and others, scarlet hats, some of which were very big and round, in the style of little frying pans, against the sun. The skins of these people are white, much more so than our skins are. All of them have long beards and hair down to their ears.”46


Montezuma was dismayed. Mexican Indians were usually beardless and did not need to shave. Except for the priests, they as a rule cut their hair short. A white skin was also rare. Its possession usually led to the person concerned being sent to the Emperor’s human zoo for oddities.


Montezuma gave orders for craftsmen to set about making a series of fine gold and feathered objects, bracelets for both feet and wrists, fans, and chains. These were to be presents for the foreigners. Among them were two large wooden discs covered with gold and silver, representing the calendars used in the Valley of Mexico. But no one was to know of these commissions. Montezuma also ordered the peasant from “the wood of hell”, who had brought news of these events, to be freed from prison. No one seems to have been surprised to find that, like the magicians of a year previously, he had escaped. Perhaps he had been quietly murdered to stop him from talking.


Montezuma gave orders for a watch to be kept on all parts of the coast.47 He asked the tlillancalqui and Cuitlalpitoc to return there. They were to take presents for the leader of the visitors. The two discs were not finished, and so were not sent. But an ample treasure was soon ready. The Mexicans set off for Cuetlaxtlan. Some food was prepared there and taken to the coast. The emissaries realised this time that the mysterious objects in the water were boats: of a size which they had not previously imagined was possible. They had themselves rowed out to them, and kissed the prows of the ships in respect: They carried out “the earth-eating ceremony at the prows of the boats.”48


The people on one of the ships called out to them through an interpreter, whose skill must have left much to be desired: “Who are you? Where is your home? Where have you come from?”


They replied: “We have come from Mexico.”


“If in truth you are Mexican, what is the name of your ruler?”


“Our lord’s name is Montezuma.”


The Mexicans then offered the strangers their presents: cloaks – one with a design of the sun on it, with a blue knot; one with the design of a jar, with an eagle on it; one “with the wind-jewel . . . one with the turkey blood design”11; one with a mirror; and one with a serpent mask.49 The strangers gave the Mexicans some less impressive objects, including some ships’ biscuits, some bread (presumably made from cassava) and necklaces of green and yellow beads. The Mexicans expressed pleasure which the strangers assumed was naivety rather than, as was no doubt the case, politeness. Mexicans had their own beads: jade ones were an item of tribute paid by Soconusco to the Mexica, and were often put in the mouth of dead bodies to pay for the soul’s journey in the underworld. But any green necklaces were welcome in a society for whom that colour, either in birds’ feathers or in stone, was especially pleasing.50


The tlillancalqui proposed eating. The strangers warily suggested that they would like the Mexicans to begin. They did so. There was joking over the turkey stew, the maize cakes, and the chocolate. The Mexicans drank some wine. Like most Indians when they drank it for the first time, they liked it.51 The strangers then said: “Go in peace. We go first to Castile, but we shall not delay in returning to Mexico.”


The Mexicans returned to land, and swiftly made their way to Tenochtitlan. Their report to Montezuma ran along the following lines: “O our lord . . . , mayest thou destroy us! for behold this we have seen, behold, this we have done, there, where thy grandfathers stand guard for thee before the ocean. We went to see our lords . . . in the midst of the water. All thy mantles we went to give to them. And behold they gave us of their noble goods.” And they told him what the strangers had said.52


Montezuma replied: “You have suffered fatigue. You are exhausted, rest.” These words were formal ones of greeting. He added, “No one shall speak anything of this, no one will spread the news, you will keep it to yourself.”


The Emperor then examined the presents. He liked the beads. He ate one of the biscuits. He said that it tasted of tufa rock. He weighed a piece of rock and another of the biscuits against each other, and naturally found that the rock weighed less. Montezuma’s dwarfs ate some of the bread given by the visitors. They found it sweet. The remains of the biscuits and the rest of the bread were taken solemnly to the temple of Quetzalcoatl in Tula.53 The beads were buried at the foot of the shrine to Huitzilopochtli in Tenochtitlan. Montezuma talked with his senior counsellors: probably all the thirty members of the Great Council. They agreed that the only thing to do was to keep a close watch on the coast.54


The mysterious visitors, the givers of the beads and the hard biscuits, left the coast. The few Mexicans who had known of the strangers’ arrival were threatened with death should they speak of it. The authorities in Tenochtitlan sought to discover what had been said in the past about such mysterious arrivals. For they found it hard to imagine anything without a precedent.55 But here their own past policies hampered them. Tlacaelel and Itzcoatl had burned the Mexica’s own histories at the beginning of the people’s imperial adventure. Texcoco still had much historical material. But the relations between the two cities were not what they had been. Montezuma ordered his court artist to paint a picture depicting what had been seen at the coast. He showed it to his archivists. None of them had seen anything like these ships, with their great sails, their rigging, and their extraordinarily high poops. Some magicians of Malinalco are then said to have prophesied the arrival of one-eyed men, others foresaw the coming of men with the bodies, below the waist, of snakes or fish. One old man, a certain Quilaztli, who lived in Xochimilco, had a library of old, pre-imperial codices. He was said to have seen similarities between one of these documents and what had been seen on the coast. The men on the sea, he thought, were not strangers. They were people long dead, returning to their own land. They might have left for the moment but they would, he thought, be likely to be back in two years. Quilaztli was transferred to live in Tenochtitlan. But Montezuma was ever more gloomy.56


A year passed. Montezuma became once more immersed in his imperial duties. His favourite concubine brought him a new son, the court hunchbacks danced, the dwarfs sang, the jesters made their master laugh. Jugglers lay on their backs and, with their feet upwards, spun balls round in the air. The regular programme of sacrifices continued. There was the dancing and the music of flutes and drums; the dressing-up and the painting of faces; the singing, the collecting of flowers and, no doubt, the uncontrollable laughter caused by the eating of sacred mushrooms. The priests kept the fires burning in the great temples. Another year’s tribute came in on the backs of patient bearers. Merchants brought back beautiful long green feathers of the quetzal bird and rumours of war from the Pacific. Workers in precious stones rejoiced that Montezuma had conquered the territories where there was good sand with which to polish their raw material. Ordinary men and women, macehualtin and mayeques, pursued their regular pattern of work, celebrated pregnancy and childbirth, educated children, sought to instil moral codes, died, and descended to Mictlan, that place of gloomy emptiness to which everyone who had lived an unadventurous life expected to go. Poems were composed at Texcoco by courtiers mourning the brevity of life and the decay of empires. The Emperor made fine speeches about his forebears. He almost forgot the strangers of 1518.


But the strangers did not forget Mexico. As they had promised, the next year, “Year of One Reed”, 1519, they came again.





II



Spain of the Golden Age
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The golden years begin


“O King Don Fernando and Doña Isabel With you the golden years begin . . .”1


Song of c. 1495 by Juan del Encina


THE MEXICA WERE right to be apprehensive at the sight of the foreigners. For they were, of course, Spanish conquistadors. Had Montezuma known precisely how these men had conducted themselves in the Caribbean during the previous quarter-century, he would have been aghast. Yet though the Mexican rulers were aware of the importance of espionage in war, they had no knowledge of the archipelago which lay only seventy miles off their eastern seaboard. They had no boats beyond canoes which were incapable of making long voyages by sea; or indeed, any voyages, apart from short ones along the coast or on lakes and rivers. The Mayas and some other peoples on the coast of what is now known as the Gulf of Mexico may have had primitive sails. But they did not seek to leave the coast.2


“We are capable of conquering the entire world,” the sinister fifteenth-century cihuacoatl, Tlacaelel, is supposed to have told Nezahualcoyotl, King of Texcoco.3 A hint of the same rhetorical ambition was conveyed to those rulers who were obliged to visit Tenochtitlan on the occasion of the inauguration of the great new temple to Huitzilopochtli: “The enemies, guests and strangers were bewildered, amazed. They saw that the Mexica were masters of the entire world, and they realised that the Mexica had conquered all the nations and that all were their vassals.” “Are not the Mexicans masters of the world?” Montezuma is said to have once demanded.4 But this “world” ended at the Gulf of Mexico. It scarcely extended to Yucatan. The Mexica traded in the Gulf of Honduras, even as far south as what is now Costa Rica and Panama. They had some cultural influence there.5 They may have learned the art of casting metal from Colombia, and obtained emeralds from there.6 But no Mexican seems to have coveted those territories as colonies. For the ancient Mexicans the earth was a flat disc surrounded by water, or perhaps a giant crocodile swimming in a sea covered by water lilies. Of that earth, Tenochtitlan, an island city surrounded by a lake, was a microcosm.7 To investigate too far was unnecessary.


One reason for this lack of interest is explained by the north-south current between Cape Catoche, as it is now known, in Yucatan, and Cape Corrientes, in Cuba. The one hundred and twenty-five miles between the two were as a rule crossed only by accident, and in bad conditions.


Such contacts as there were had modest consequences: as indicated earlier, a few Jamaican castaways were a little later found in Yucatan; some beeswax, known to have come from Yucatan, was discovered in Cuba in the early sixteenth century; and some Maya pottery also reached Cuba.8 There were some other infrequent crossings, though the only authenticated one seems to have been in 1514 in circumstances still not fully explained. The argument that the people of Hispaniola took their drum from the mainland does not seem proven.9 The Caribbean had derived its population from the north of Venezuela via the Lesser Antilles, not across this strait.10


The native population of the Caribbean also seemed ignorant of the Mexica. Their lack of a high culture was, of course, not the determining element in the Mexicans’ lack of interest in them. For the Mexica lived in a cocoon of self-preoccupation. Montezuma II is said to have been curious about nature. But like everyone else in his realm, he was unconcerned about human beings.


The Castilian activity in the western Caribbean, which had been reported in Tenochtitlan, is easily identified. In 1502 Columbus himself, on his fourth voyage, had touched at several places in Central America. His first stop, and furthest point north, was one of the Bay Islands in the Gulf of Honduras, three hundred miles south, as the crow flies, from Yucatan. Here, Columbus came on a large canoe manned by men who were probably Jicaque or Paya Indians. They seem to have been on their way from trading in Yucatan. The canoe carried cacao beans (which the Admiral thought were almonds), obsidian, copper bells and axes from Michoacan, as well as coloured cotton goods. Columbus was presented with some long swords, with sharp stone blades, which sound as if they were Mexican. He accepted some pulque: the fact that the inhabitants of tierra firme had alcohol helped to convince the Spaniards of their superiority to the abstemious islanders. Columbus also became the first European to eat turkey. He exchanged some goods.11 The embroidered clothes of some of the twenty-five Indians on board, and the quality of their cottons, confirmed to the Spaniards that, somewhere inland, there was a more sophisticated world than anything which they had met in the Antilles.12 But Columbus did not sail on west with these Indians, as they invited him to; he wished to follow the wind south; and, for a few years, no further European enquiry was made in the direction in which the Indian canoe had disappeared.


Then in 1508 the two stars of Spanish maritime enterprise at the time, Vicente Yáñez Pinzón, a native of Palos, who had captained the Pinta on Columbus’ first voyage, and Juan Díaz de Solís, from Lepe, another little port between Huelva and Seville, set out to look for a route which would take them west from the Caribbean to the Spice Islands. They made landfall at Honduras, not far from where Columbus had turned south in 1502, and then sailed north. Yáñez Pinzón and Díaz de Solís could find nothing like a strait. They probably sailed along the coast of Yucatan, they perhaps reached Tabasco, they may have reached what is now Veracruz, or even Tampico. They were certainly the first Europeans to see the coastline of what has become known as “Mexico”. But they did nothing about what they had seen.13


Two years later, Martín Fernández de Enciso, later a famous geographer, with Francisco Pizarro, the future conqueror of Peru, and Vasco Núñez de Balboa, the “first caudillo of the New World”, founded a European settlement on the mainland of the Americas, at Darien, in what is now Panama. In 1511, several men from a convoy returning from there to the main Spanish entrepôt at Santo Domingo were shipwrecked off Yucatan. Two of these were still alive in 1518. They were in Maya hands. These men were Gerónimo de Aguilar, a priest from Écija, between Seville and Córdoba, and Gonzalo Guerrero, from Niebla, near Palos. Once these men learned Maya, as they did, they presumably became a good source in Yucatan and eventually perhaps, through translation, in the Valley of Mexico, about the Spanish activities. Next, a Spanish expedition, on its way back from the discovery of Florida, led by Juan Ponce de León, apparently landed in 1513 in Yucatan.14 Distressed by his failure to find the Fountain of Youth, he thought that he had reached Cuba. This stop on his journey did not, however, register in the minds of his compatriots, though his pilot, Antonio de Alaminos, another native of Palos, had travelled with Columbus on his fourth voyage, and later recalled what had happened. Several Maya texts recorded this landing.15


In 1515 there was another well-documented communication between Castile and Mexico. A judge named Corrales in the Spanish colony of Darien reported that he had met a “fugitive from the interior provinces of the West”. This man, seeing the judge reading, started with surprise. He asked, through interpreters, “You also have books? You also understand the signs by which you talk to the absent?” He examined the book which Corrales was studying and saw that the letters were not the same as those signs to which he was used. He then said that, in his country, “the towns were walled, the citizens normally wore clothing, and they were governed by laws”.16 He was presumably talking of Yucatan, but it could have been Mexico.


*


The Spaniards involved in all these voyages were mostly Andalusians, Castilians, or Extremeños (from Extremadura).17 Most of the leaders were members of the minor nobility, hidalgos, who, though they probably had little money, were certainly “not reared from behind the plough”.18 They were often younger sons (or younger sons of younger sons) forced, by the size of their parents’ families, to find a career in order to live, and had been obliged to choose between church, the sea or the court (iglesia, mar o casa real). They were men driven by several motives: to become rich; to become famous – by which they meant they wished to distinguish themselves in the service of the King or of God (and to become recognised for it); and to extend the dominions of Christianity.


Among the rest of the volunteers, an increase in sheep rearing and cattle farming in Castile, and especially Extremadura, and the consequent decline in the acres devoted to arable agriculture, had stimulated emigration. An economic crisis in Spain between 1502 and 1508 was another encouragement.19 “The poverty is great,” wrote an Italian, the historian and diplomat, Guicciardini, in 1512. “Hunger and disease are never wanting,” a conquistador from León, Diego de Ordaz, would write in 1529.20 A simple desire for freedom, not only from the poverty of Castilian country life, but from obligations to lords, bishops, and the still powerful military orders, was also a motive. The historian, missionary, propagandist and bishop, Bartolomé de Las Casas, described meeting in 1518 an old man aged seventy who wanted to emigrate. He asked: “You, father, why do you want to go to the Indies, being so old and tired?” The answer was, “By my faith, sir, to die and leave my sons in a free and happy land.”21


Andalusians, and to a lesser extent Extremeños, had, of course, been living on the frontiers of Christian Spain with Islam for centuries. Nearly all the Christian families of Seville had been immigrants after the liberation in the 1240s: and so Andalusia had afforded a demographic rehearsal for the colonisation of America. At the same time, Seville, the biggest city in Spain (though probably a mere quarter of the size of Tenochtitlan), was still (indeed, was every year more) a melting pot of Castilian peoples. Merchants from Burgos, the great wool-exporting city of the north, usually had representatives in Seville. So did the Genoese, the entrepreneurs of the age. Seville was the home of the far from negligible late medieval Spanish navy, and had been the city most enterprising in trading with Africa, for gold as for slaves. In the neighbourhood of Seville, along the coast towards Portugal, there were several small, newly thriving ports, such as Lepe, Palos, Moguer and Huelva, whose citizens had become accustomed to the sea. This part of the realm was full of men who contemplated journeys to the New World with zest; and would be happy to sell a passage to it for about eleven or twelve gold ducats (for, of course, the journey was not free) to anyone able to pay.22


*


The philosophy of the discoveries, the emigration, and the colonisation was Christianity. Ferdinand and Isabel, King and Queen of a new, if precariously united, Spain, had conquered Granada in 1492. They had been hailed by the Pope not only as the “Catholic kings” but as “athletes of Christ”. The primate of Spain, Cardinal Ximenez de Cisneros, likened himself, not wholly inappropriately, given his fighting spirit, to a new Joshua.


The discoverers of America, from Columbus onwards, presented their findings as new triumphs on behalf of God. In this, the Castilians were supported, as were all who, from the mid-fifteenth century onwards, had left Europe with similar ambitions, by papal authority. For the bull Dum Diversas of 1452 had authorised the King of Portugal “to subdue Saracens, pagans, and other unbelievers inimical to Christ, to reduce their persons to perpetual slavery and then to transfer for ever their territory to the Portuguese Crown”. When discoveries began to be made, in the 1490s, under the auspices of the Spanish Crown, the Pope was Alexander VI, who, as Rodrigo Borgia, came of a family of lesser nobility from Játiva, near Valencia. He had reached the throne of St Peter in August 1492, the same month that Columbus embarked on his first voyage. He was under an obligation to the Catholic kings for their help in securing his election. Hence he gladly issued new bulls which were helpful to Castile. The most famous one, of 4 May 1493, gave the Catholic kings dominion over all the lands which they discovered three hundred miles to the west of the Azores, on condition that they converted to Christianity the peoples whom they found.


The militant Christianity which characterised Spain in the late fifteenth century had several springs: there was a millenarian expectation that the monarchy could revive the Christian presence in Jerusalem; there was a revived threat from Islam which, for the first time, had in those years become a maritime power in the Mediterranean (the menace of Islam had previously seemed to derive from its cavalry); and there was renewed anxiety about what was curiously perceived at the time as the growth of Judaism.


The need to meet the threat of Islam, and the requirement to prevent the spread of Judaism, was the culmination of the Spanish Crown’s desire to create a Catholic monarchy which would act as the sword of Christendom. The imperial mission would be a cement to keep the newly unified kingdom together.


Both the anti-Islamic and anti-Judaic drives came to a head in 1492 with, first, the surrender of the city of Granada in January, bringing the Reconquista to a triumphant conclusion; and, secondly, the decree in March expelling Jews from Spain unless they converted to Christianity.


These events were surprising. Islam and Christianity had for generations lived side by side in Spain. Christian heroes, including the greatest one, El Cid Campeador, had fought for Moorish kings against Christians. Even his title, “El Cid”, was a corruption of an Arab expression. In Christian Spain the dominant architecture was still the Moorish (or mudéjar) style of Islamic Spain.


The Jewish minority of Castile was at the same time intellectually alive, providing in some cities not only the tax gatherers but the chief taxpayers too. Jews were clerks and craftsmen, as well as poets. When converted to Christianity, they made admirable theologians, mystics, friars, even bishops. But the consensus had broken down. Ever since the late fourteenth century, Spain had been marked by suspicion. People feared that the church had been penetrated by secret Jews; had not the prior of the Jeronymite monastery of La Sisla near Toledo even celebrated the feast of the Tabernacle?23 The Spanish Inquisition was set up in 1481. City after city in Castile passed ordinances against Jews. Autos de fe may have caused the burning of eight hundred converted Jews in the 1480s in Seville alone, and the imprisonment of several thousand others. The policy of the Crown was not to punish Jews. It was to cut off “the new Christians”, the conversos, from the temptation of remaining in touch with Judaism. But an unexpectedly large number of Jews refused to convert to Christianity. The Jews were, to begin with, astonished to think that they could be attacked: “Are we not the principal men in the city?” asked a leader of the community in Seville.24


If the homeland was thus in difficulty, all the more reason for Castilians abroad to act as the sword of Christianity itself.


*


Yet if Christianity was the ideology behind the expansion of Spain, most of the leaders were also driven by earthly motives. They wished to rise in status, to become noblemen, to attract the attention of the monarch and the court.


In these ideas their imaginations were excited by both old songs and new publications. Thus most leading conquistadors would have learned in their childhood frontier ballads, sung for Andalusian knights in praise of military values. Sometimes these would tell of the Moor Gazul, or of half-forgotten local heroes of the territory between Seville and Ronda, endlessly skirmished over in the fourteenth or fifteenth century. Sometimes the theme would be the Cid, the mysterious victor of the late ninth century, or Pedro Carbonero, a more recent Christian knight who improvidently had led his men into Moorish territory. At other times Charlemagne, Alexander, Caesar, even Hannibal, or other classical personalities who had made the curious transition from being well-documented historical figures to ones of myth, would inspire a whole cycle of stories.25 How sweet to cross the Rubicon! How noble to fight in two continents as Alexander had done! But usually the allusion derived from a ballad, not from a reading of Plutarch.


The men in the ships seen by Montezuma’s messengers in 1518 near what is now Veracruz were those who, born between 1480 and 1500, were, too, a first generation of readers for whom printed texts could be not just an instruction; they could give entertainment, even delight.26 Readers to begin with felt themselves transformed by the mere act of holding these “almost divine instruments”.27


Thus there were now to be found printed versions of many ballads. From now on, too, there would also be romances which, from the publication of Tirant lo Blanc in 1490 to that of Amadís de Gaula in 1508, would recount extraordinary stories to this, the first generation of mass novel readers. Amadís de Gaula, the most successful printed book of the early sixteenth century in Spain, though written far earlier, accompanied conquistadors as much as did prayerbooks and books of hours. Sometimes these novels too would form the themes of ballads. These writings are now remembered because Cervantes in Don Quixote made fun of them. At the time they satisfied a deep need.


Further, sailors and conquistadors of the “generation of 1500” were easily made conscious, through printing, of innumerable fantastic expectations, to be found in the works of Sir John Mandeville and others, about men with two heads, Amazons, and the Fountain of Eternal Youth which would revive the fading sexual powers of elderly men, and which even rational people would expect to find in the Americas beyond the next cape.


Some of the most famous place names of the Americas derive from these romances: the river Amazon; California was an island in Sergas de Esplandián, a sequel to Amadís de Gaula: Patagonia occurs as a country in the romance entitled Palmerín de Oliva; while the name “Antilles”, as used for the islands of the Caribbean, derives from Atlantis, the myth of which much excited sailors of the fifteenth century.


Another influence on Castilians in the early sixteenth century was more genuinely that of antiquity. One conquistador, Francisco Aguilar, who may have been among those seen by Montezuma’s messengers at the coast, subsequently became an Augustinian monk. He wrote in the 1560s that, from his childhood onwards, he had been “concerned to read and study histories of Greek romance and Persian antiquity”.28 In consequence of this fashion any formal piece of writing would be decked out with quotations from Cicero and Caesar, whether or no the writer had read the authors in question; or whether, as was as likely, he had found the reference in a collection of old sayings such as that of the Marquis of Santillana, whose book of proverbs which “old women repeat by the fireside” had been immensely successful when it first came out in print in Saragossa in 1488.29


Then there was yet another inspiration: Spain! The surrender in January 1492 of Granada unleashed what seems, even in the limited circumstances of the time, to have been an era of genuine patriotism. The conquest of Granada itself was described as “the most distinguished and blessed day that there had ever been in Spain”. Fr. Iñigo de Mendoza, a popular satirist at the court, declared that he became aware in those years of a will to empire.30 The humanist philologist Antonio de Nebrija, tutor of both public servants and noblemen, published in 1492 his Spanish Grammar: the first for any language other than Latin (for which he had produced a comparable work). It was written, said the author, in order to make Castilian a fit language for the historical narratives which would surely be written, so that the deeds of her great kings would be remembered for ever.


These memories invigorated the imagination of the conquistador who, riding or tramping through remote jungles, or trapped in faraway creeks, allowed a vision of the homeland to inspire him; and the homeland as one nation, not a confederation of León, Castile, Andalusia and Aragon. He would, if a leader, christen some improbable village of a few huts covered by palm roofs with the name of his pueblo; and would give to a bigger city, full of sceptical Indians, the name Sanlúcar, or Valladolid, or even Seville. In combat in tropical swamps he would shout some medieval battlecry such as “¡Santiago y cierre España!” at a time when such cries were out of date at home.


*


The commercial motives behind Spanish and Portuguese expansion were important. Bartolomeu Dias was looking for spices as well as “the kingdom of Prester John” when in 1497 he sought the sea route to India. In the New World, commerce, in the twenty-five years after Columbus’ first journey in 1492, had come to mean primarily the pursuit of gold. If the Mexica looked back to Tollan and the Toltecs, the Castilians were drawn to that earlier golden age which marked their eleventh century: the time of El Cid, who found such stores of that precious metal when he conquered Valencia (“The gold and the silver, who can count it?” ran a line in the Song of the Cid).31 Fixed tributes in gold were for years paid by Muslim rulers to Christians in return for peace. But in the fifteenth century Spanish and European demand for gold increased. All monarchs wished to copy the Florentines, and use gold for coins. Gold was demanded for chains across velvet robes, and to embellish altars and the dresses on effigies of the Virgin. Gold thread was needed for tapestries.


Nor did the romances of chivalry forget the pursuit of gold. Thus Gasquilan, King of Sweden, in Amadís de Gaula, had on his shield “a griffin grasping a heart in his talons, wrought in gold, and fastened to the shield with golden nails . . .”32 Yet before the discovery of America, the gold of Europe itself mostly came from West Africa: the Upper Volta, the Upper Niger, and the Senegal rivers.


The pursuit of new sources of this metal became an obsession. For riches, in the luminous words of Huizinga, had not yet acquired “the spectral impalpability which capitalism, founded in credit, would give later: what haunt[ed] the imagination was still the tangible, yellow gold”.33 Columbus thought that a man with gold could do what he liked in the world: “He can succeed in bringing souls to paradise.”34 Before his first voyage, he had even promised the sailors of Palos that, if they would only follow him, they “would all have houses with tiles of gold”.35


*


The Spain of Ferdinand and Isabel seemed to later generations to have been a golden age in a political sense. “We have discovered that the new state [which we are seeking] is nothing other than the Spanish state of the Catholic kings,” wrote a Carlist politician in the 1930s.36 The legend began at the time. The phrase “the golden years” was coined in 1495 by the playwright Juan del Encina.


In some ways, this identification of the reign of Ferdinand and Isabel with the picture of Spain at its zenith is true. Aragon (with Catalonia) and Castile were brought together for the first time. The union was a conscious work of art in true Renaissance style, by the majestic Queen Isabel and her prudent husband, Ferdinand. Their symbol, the yoke or knot of Ferdinand, and the arrows of Isabel, with the motto, “Tanto Monta”, literally “Each as good as the other”, expressed the nature of the new association (though Castile was always to be the politically dominant partner).37 The victory over Granada had certainly been a triumph. Spain, hitherto merely a geographical expression, genuinely came into being, and not just in the minds of the conquistadors. For good or evil, Jewish and Moorish Spain ceased to exist as separate sources of loyalty. Noblemen were obliged to see the benefits as well as the responsibilities of the sovereign state: a consummation symbolised by the Crown’s seizure of the masterships of the overbearing knightly orders of Santiago, Alcántara and Calatrava. The government’s finances were reinvigorated. A monetary reform was carried through in 1497. The creation of the Holy Brotherhood in 1476 gave Castile the beginnings of a police. A supreme tribunal was established in Valladolid. The Crown was henceforth usually (rather than, as theretofore, sporadically) represented in large cities by a corregidor, or co-council member, whose appointment marked the beginning of administrative centralisation. The Council of Castile was made effective as the supreme organ of power. The national endeavour received artistic commemoration: first under Flemish, then Italian, influence. Spain was also beginning, in a hundred small ways, to receive the spirit of humanism from Italy, with the famous Mendoza family as the triggers of cultivated change. Despite King Ferdinand’s authoritarian instincts, the two kingdoms over whose affairs he presided began, even if incompletely and partially, a cultural awakening. Had not Queen Isabel herself learned Latin? Were not scholars beginning to be prized as much as warriors? Were not even Spanish noblemen seeing the point of education and entrusting their sons to the attention of Italian humanists such as Lucio Marineo and Peter Martyr?


But though the energy and the achievement were undoubted, the unity was fragile. The artistic innovations, the sculpture of a Berruguete, the Latin of a Nebrija, were bright spots on the surface of a still medieval, half-Moorish country. The kingdoms were held together only at the top and by a common foreign policy. The culture, however brilliant, was on the surface. Beneath, everything was divided. The measures against secret Jewry led to a profound intolerance which prevented the emergence of a real Spanish Renaissance. The court was especially fragmented. Friends of King Ferdinand intrigued against old supporters of his dead son-in-law, King Philip the Beautiful. Ferdinand’s Aragonese civil servants were widely hated. Big cities and small had consuming family disputes, such as that in Seville between the Ponce de León and the Guzmán families, or in Trujillo between the Altamiranos and the Bejaranos. Some noblemen believed that the Infante Ferdinand, a son of Queen Juana, who had been brought up in Spain and spoke Spanish, should be King instead of his elder brother, the French-speaking Charles, with his Burgundian ways and international, imperial ambitions. Both aristocrats and bourgeoisie despised and feared King Charles’ Flemish courtiers.


Political agitation was also to be seen in the cities of Castile. This was in theory an expression of the municipalities’ concern about the King’s foreign interests. In practice it was soon to be directed by uncontrollable, popular, even democratic movements, upon which family feuds became superimposed. Just men, such as the Dominicans, disposed to be tolerant to the Indians in the Caribbean, distrusted the Jewish conversos. The Dominicans dominated the Holy Office, the Spanish Inquisition. Erasmus’ works swept into Spain in 1516 to conquer intellectual life in a way which increased the risk of political as well as religious combustion.


It is thus ironically fitting that even the Crown should have been divided: between, on the one hand, the tragic Juana, in 1518 in her ninth year of confinement as mad, in the black castle of Tordesillas; and, on the other, her son Charles, who acted in her stead, but seemed too young, and too influenced by too many foreign interests, to give to Spain the patriotic direction which, under Ferdinand and Isabel, it had been coming to expect. Yet conquistadors, writing home from their tropical New Sevilles and New Santiagos, would address them, the imprisoned and the free, the unbalanced mother and the inexperienced son, as co-equal monarchs of vast power.


*


The Castilians who were met by the tlillancalqui and his slave in 1518 were mostly men who had come to the Caribbean in the last few years as a second generation of colonisers. They had travelled out, as paying passengers in search of fame and fortune, in one of the two hundred or so ships which had left Spain for the Indies between 1506 and 1518.38 Their mentors, the first generation, had, however, presided over, though they had not instigated, a major tragedy.


At first, in 1492, the Castilians who followed Columbus thought that they had discovered paradise in the West Indies. The local inhabitants, the Tainos, were skilled weavers, potters and carvers of shell, bone and stone. They sometimes inlaid their carvings with beaten gold and shells. They could not cast metal, and were militarily negligible. But their agriculture was successful. They cultivated cassava, sweet potatoes and, to a lesser extent, maize, edible tubers, beans, peppers, peanuts and cashews. They gathered fruit. They smoked tobacco for pleasure. They made pottery and, like the Mexica, played games with rubber balls. Hunting and fishing thrived. They lived in wooden houses ranged in large villages of a thousand to two thousand people, and traded by canoe with peoples in the Lesser Antilles and even in South America. Their deities, zemis, seemed mild, the lord of cassava and the goddess of fresh water being prominent. Peter Martyr (a well-informed courtier from Lake Maggiore who had come from Italy to Spain in the train of the Mendoza family) described glowingly the Indians whom Columbus met: “Amongst them the land belongs to everyone, just as does the sun and the water. They know of no difference between the meum and the tuum, that source of all evils. It requires so little to satisfy them that, in that vast region, there is always more land to cultivate than is needed. It is indeed a golden age, [for] neither ditches nor hedges nor walls enclose their domains; they live in gardens open to all, without laws and without judges.”39


On his second journey, in 1493, Colombus took an expedition of nearly 1,500 to set up a colony in La Isla Española, or “Hispaniola”. It included two hundred volunteers who were “gentlemen and craftsmen”; and, among the gentlemen, twenty knights who conducted themselves with undisciplinable arrogance. The goal was to build a trading factory, such as the Portuguese had created in West Africa. These conquistadors expected to remain only a few years before returning home rich. The hard work was to be done by the Tainos.


Spain’s initially friendly relations with these Indians in Hispaniola soon ended. The conquistadors seduced women, enslaved men, imposed unjust punishments, and insisted on being provided with gold. The Taino chiefs protested. They were overthrown, transported or killed. Consequent Indian “rebellions” were followed by pacification. The Spaniards also fell out among themselves: Columbus and his brothers were no good at administration. In 1500 the tyranny of “the pharaoh”, as Columbus had come to be known, was ended by the Crown. The Columbus brothers were replaced by officials: first Francisco de Bobadilla, majordomo to the King, a success in the war against Granada, and a brother of the Queen’s best friend, Beatriz, Marchioness of Moya; then an able administrator, Fr. Nicolás de Ovando. They were effective. Bobadilla sent Columbus home in chains for mismanagement. Ovando created something like a successful colony.40 He was high-minded and persistent, if cold and stony-hearted. He broke the native revolts. He created order among the colonists. He introduced European crops. He divided the island into seventeen municipalities, to one of which every settler had to belong. He made these town councils the heart of his administration: a decision which permanently influenced the Spanish empire towards an urban history. As Comendador de Lares of the Order of Alcántara, which had worked well in Extremadura, he knew the benefits of the encomienda, a system based on the handing-over of a specified number of the conquered population to the care of a single landowner. So following earlier attempts by Columbus to do the same in a more ad hoc fashion, he sought to transfer what had been done in Spain to the Indies. He thus founded the colonial version of the encomienda, a word which has been misunderstood as much as it has been attacked.41


[image: map]


But Ovando was harsh. One of his monuments was the massacre of Xaragua, where, in 1503, Anacaona, the native queen of the west of the island, was tricked into accepting an invitation to dine. She was hanged while her chief followers were burned alive. The pretext was that a native revolt was planned and that the Spaniards barely acted in time. The story may have been true. But that scarcely justified the reaction.42


Columbus being dead, his son Diego Colón, who had been brought up at the Castilian court, came out in 1509 to succeed Ovando as Governor.43 As children in Valladolid he and his brother remembered being shouted at: “There go the sons of the Admiral of the Mosquitoes, who discovered lands of vanity and delusion, the grave of Castilian gentry.”44 Diego Colón’s intentions towards the Indians were an improvement on Ovando’s. But he could not impose his will on the settlers who were by then established as petty monarchs on large properties. The second Admiral – Diego Colón had inherited the title from his father – ruled ineffectually if benignly till he was succeeded in turn in 1516 by the curious experiment of a board of four Jeronymite friars.


The Indian population of Hispaniola, meantime, which may have been over 100,000 in 1492, dropped to about 30,000.45 Traditional agriculture had been based on the cultivation of cassava and the sweet potato. Those crops declined because of the demands of the conquerors for precious metals. There was soon not enough food: indeed, not enough for the conquerors. Many Tainos died of hunger. The execution, or flight, of traditional rulers caused the survivors to abandon hope. Many of those who died did so by being worked to death. The collapse of the Taino population was completed by the association of many Taino women with the Spaniards. Assimilation thus played a part, perhaps a more important part than is usually realised, in the eclipse of the native culture.46 All the same, there certainly was a demographic catastrophe.


The Spaniards did not limit themselves to Hispaniola. That island became the base for other expeditions. These resulted in the capture of Puerto Rico and Jamaica, in 1508 and 1509 respectively. The conquerors were Juan Ponce de León and Juan de Esquivel, the first a bastard son of the best-known family in Seville, the second from a less famous family of the same city. Cuba was circumnavigated in 1509–10 by Sebastián de Ocampo.47 It was then invaded by Diego Velázquez, from Cuéllar, near Valladolid, in 1511. The leaders of these expeditions were all survivors of that famous company of “gentlemen” who had travelled out to the Indies on Columbus’ second voyage.


Several temporary colonies were established too on the mainland, in what had become known as Little Venice, Venezuela (where the regime of the German Fuggers soon demonstrated that northern Europeans were no better at managing hostile Indians than Castilians were). Florida was found, but not colonised, also by Ponce de León, on Easter Sunday (Pascua Florida) 1513. A settlement was made, as has been indicated, on the mainland of Central America. This territory was hopefully called Castilla del Oro: it was supposed from some trifling discoveries there that gold would be forthcoming in quantity. Far to the south, meantime, that same Juan Díaz de Solís from Lepe who had voyaged along the coast of Mexico in 1508 discovered the river Plate in 1515.


Most of these discoveries had their black moments: where Hispaniola had Xaragua, the occupation of Cuba had its massacre at Caonao. A general rising of natives in Puerto Rico occurred in 1511 as a result of the harshness of Cristóbal de Sotomayor, a lieutenant to Ponce de León. It failed, though Sotomayor and his son were killed. Meantime everywhere in the Caribbean, the Indian population declined almost to nothing in the course of two generations.


First, as in Hispaniola, traditional agriculture was destroyed: the first Governor of Cuba, Diego Velázquez, told the King in 1514 that the handful of pigs which he had brought to that island four years earlier had already turned into 30,000.48 Ferdinand, the wealth of whose kingdom depended as much on its five million sheep as its four million inhabitants, presumably approved. In fact both Hispaniola and Cuba went through a more radical version of a depopulation which had been happening in Castile: men gave way to animals. Wild cattle, wild horses and even wild dogs did untold damage.


Then there was the search for the precious mineral which everyone coveted. “Let us be strictly truthful,” wrote Peter Martyr to the Pope, “and add that the craze for gold was the cause of their [the islands’] destruction. For these people were in the past accustomed, as soon as they had sown the fields, to play, dance, sing and chase rabbits. But now they have been set to work mercilessly . . . extracting and sifting gold.”49 In Cuba those who did not succumb because of “the cruelty and avarice of the colonist”, the continuous hard labour, and the shortage of food, sometimes killed themselves, while their wives practised abortion.50


The Bahamas and, to a lesser extent, the Leeward Islands, as well as the little islands off the coast of South America such as Curaçao and Aruba, were ruined in a different manner. These “useless islands”, in Ovando’s haughty phrase, were depopulated as a result of a slave trade to compensate for the demographic losses in the larger colonies. The few indigenous people were replaced by cattle. The exceptions were the Windward Islands, where the Caribs, who were used to fighting, held out successfully; and the island of Margarita, off Venezuela, which was out of bounds to slave traders because of the discovery there of pearls.


The imported and enslaved Indians did not adapt very well. Out of 15,000 taken to Hispaniola, all but 2,000 died within ten years.51


Part of the trouble was that all these expeditions of discovery were private ventures. Columbus’ first and second voyages had been financed by the Crown. Pedrarias de Ávila’s journey of 1514 to the Castilla del Oro had also been paid for by the King, though everyone was expected to live at their own cost after they had arrived. All other expeditions were financed by their captains. The need to recover their outlay perhaps explains, though it scarcely excuses, how well-mannered Castilian gentlemen such as Juan de Ayora, a judge and veteran of the Italian wars, would threaten Indian chiefs in Darien with being burned alive or thrown to the dogs unless they quickly brought gold.52


The Spanish Caribbean in 1518 thus seemed a ruined place. The Indians washed for gold and died young, while the Spanish fed livestock, seduced the native women and read romances. The Crown seemed uninterested, except where profit could be obtained to finance the royal adventures in Italy. King Ferdinand, in sole control of Castile after the death of first his queen Isabel in 1504 and then his son-in-law Philip in 1506, allowed his civil servants to approve Caribbean autocracies such as even the sleepiest Castilian town would not have tolerated for a moment. Those domestic officials, always ill-paid and therefore corrupt, were avid for fortunes from those Indies which they did not choose personally to visit. They allowed the tropical autocrats a free rein, provided that they at home could enjoy bizarre titles indicating Cuban or Puerto Rican responsibilities, and provided that products were sent home which could be turned into money; especially gold.53


The great Bishop de Las Casas later made much propaganda out of the collapse of the population in these islands. His Short Account of the Destruction of the Indies was one of the most successful polemics in history.54 But by exaggerating the original numbers of the inhabitants, as he did, he damaged his cause. The world was left after reading him with the impression that the conquistadors killed directly three million people in Hispaniola, and only modestly fewer in the other islands. The facts are less dramatic, though they are certainly tragic: the native population did disappear. Perhaps 200,000 people died in the four large Caribbean islands in a quarter of a century. They did so from overwork, fear, and loss of faith in the future, not from Spanish steel. Nor at this stage did European diseases seem to have been decisive.


There was, however, hope for change. This did not derive from the movement in several colonies to render genuine the work of the procuradores, or city representatives, such as would lead to a near revolution in 1520 in Castile itself; though some such local leaders did seek to assert themselves as spokesmen of their communities. No, the ray of light in the Caribbean was provided by the efforts of a few remarkable churchmen.
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The Pope must have been drunk


Comment of the Cenú Indians when being told that Alexander VI had divided the world between the Portuguese and the Spaniards, c. 1512


COLUMBUS BELIEVED THAT he was led to his discoveries by God. There is even a suggestion in his writings that one of his aims might have been not to reach China, but Jerusalem, from the rear.1 The most ruthless of the conquistadors lived in fear of hell. Even the conquest of Cuba was saluted as a religious triumph. Thus it is logical, if surprising, that the Spanish Caribbean in 1518 should in theory have been managed by four Jeronymite priors who, for two years, had been formally the Crown’s commissars of the Indies. They were not exactly royal governors. They were supposed to gather information, and then both recommend, and carry out, reforms. They lived in Santo Domingo, then the headquarters of Castilian operations in the Americas.


The designation of the Jeronymites to a place of political power in the West Indies can be traced to the coming of Dominican friars to Santo Domingo in 1510. These were led by Fr. Pedro de Córdoba, a man “endowed with much prudence and an exceptional gift for teaching . . . he it was who, with his religious fervour, turned the natives away from their primitive beliefs.” That fervour created trouble among the hard-faced colonists. If the natives could become Christians, they obviously could not be treated as savages. One of Fr. Pedro’s colleagues, Fr. Antonio de Montesinos, took the matter further, in a sermon on the first Sunday of Advent 1511. Using as a text the insistence of St John the Baptist in the Gospel of Saint Matthew that he was “a voice crying in the wilderness” (“Ego vox clamante in deserto”), he told his appalled congregation that they were living in mortal sin because of their treatment of the Indians. “Are they not men? Do they not have rational souls? Are you not obliged to love them as you do yourselves? On what authority have you waged a detestable war against these people?”2


The colonists called for the return to Spain of the Dominicans. Fr. Montesinos outmanoeuvred them by going home himself to plead the cause of the natives. He at first gained no hearing. But a debate was eventually joined. A theologian, Matías de Paz, in his Concerning the Rule of the King of Spain over the Indies, argued that Christian princes were not entitled to make war on infidels purely out of a desire to dominate or to capture their wealth. The spreading of the Faith could be the only justification for such conflicts.3 A meeting was held at Burgos to discuss the matters arising. King Ferdinand was present. Fr. Montesinos found himself arguing against a skilled polemicist, Juan Palacios Rubios, a university professor of distinction, who defended the conquistadors.4 Palacios Rubios argued that the founding charter of the Spanish empire in the New World was the donation of the Indies to the Catholic kings by Pope Alexander VI. So far as the issue raised by Fr. Montesinos was concerned, he cited Aristotle’s Politics. Aristotle had discussed whether certain peoples were “slaves by nature”.5 That discussion had interested thinkers in Europe in the late fifteenth century. It had enabled them to contrast freedom in the West with subjection in Turkey. Palacios Rubios argued that the natives in the Indies were so barbarous as to be natural slaves, if anyone were. They were in need of correction.6 Yet the Italian philosopher Pico della Mirandola had caused one of his characters, in a dialogue, to say that “he who looks closely will see that even the barbarians have intelligence – not on the tongue, but in the heart”.


The consequence of this discussion was the adoption of the Laws of Burgos (27 December 1512), the first legal approach to “the Indian question”. The most important provision in it was that Indians were to be made Christians. They were to be assembled in villages, taught the creed, the Lord’s prayer and the Salve Regina, how to pray and how to confess. They were to be given Christian baptism and Christian funerals. The sons of chiefs were to be educated in their teens by Franciscans. A special teacher, a certain Hernán Xuárez, was to go to the Caribbean to teach Latin grammar. Natives who worked for wages were not to be ill-treated. Every town was to have an inspector to ensure that the settlers conducted themselves humanely.7 There were some less philanthropic provisions. The naturales (natives) were forbidden to dance. Church-going was compulsory. Old houses were to be burned, to prevent sentimentality. A third of all Indians were to work in the mines. Despite these and other such clauses, these laws began an intellectual revolution. The practical consequences were more uncertain.


A further Spanish discussion was held in 1513 at the Dominican convent of San Pablo, in Valladolid. Some provisions supplementary to the Laws of Burgos were passed. Martín Fernández de Enciso, a geographer who had been among the founders of the colony at Darien, expounded the thesis that the Indies had been given to Spain (by the Pope), just as Canaan had been given to the Jews (by God). The Spaniards, he insisted, could, therefore, treat the Indians as Joshua treated the citizens of Jericho.8 King Ferdinand then commissioned a new proclamation to be read formally aloud by conquistadors on the occasion of new conquests. That procedure, he hoped, would at least legalise the position.


That document was the Requerimiento, the Requisition, drafted by that same professor Palacios Rubios who had argued with Fr. Montesinos at Burgos.9 There were medieval precedents. Indeed, the thing may have had its origin, like many other instances of Castilian chivalry, in the Muslim practice of challenging opponents before a battle to embrace the true faith or to die. A similar declaration had been used in the Christian conquest of the Canary Islands. But the new document was more all-embracing. It began with a short history of Christendom up till the “donation” of Alexander Borgia. It called upon Indians to accept the authority of the Spanish Crown as the temporal representative of the papacy. Palacios Rubios, a realist, described the document as intended to “calm the conscience of the Christians”. He could see the macabre side of reading on, for example, a tropical beach, a document of this nature before Indians who could understand neither the language nor the concepts presented.10 Bishop de Las Casas said that he did not know whether to laugh or to weep when he heard of the instruction.11 Fernández de Enciso once described reading the Requerimiento to two chiefs of the Cenú in what is now Colombia. The chiefs accepted that there might be one God, and that He might rule earth and sky, but they thought that “the Pope must have been drunk” when he gave to the Catholic kings so much territory which belonged to others.12


This text was first read in seriousness by Rodrigo de Colmenares on the shores of Panama, in the presence of the future historian of the Indies, Gonzalo Fernández de Oviedo, in 1514.13


A serious argument about the legality of empire was now joined in Spain. But it might not have been taken any further, and there might never have been an ecclesiastical government in Hispaniola, had it not been for another Dominican monk of persistence, courage, humanity, and eloquence: Fr. Bartolomé de Las Casas. Las Casas had faults: he was, as has been seen, inclined to exaggeration, and he quarrelled with everyone. He was at the same time naive and overweening. But of his generosity of spirit and his determination there can be no doubt.


Las Casas was a native of Seville, as were so many of those involved in the tale of Spanish expansion. His father, Pedro de Las Casas, went to Hispaniola as one of the “gentleman” colonists on Columbus’ second journey in 1493. The family may have been Jewish in origin.14 When Pedro de Las Casas went back disillusioned to Seville in 1498, he brought with him a slave whom he was later obliged to return in consequence of a decision of the Queen. (She remarked: “What power of mine does the Admiral hold to give my vassals to anyone?”)15


The Las Casas family retained property in Hispaniola. It was therefore logical that Bartolomé, aged eighteen, should have gone out with Ovando in 1502 to that island, in a great fleet of thirty ships, with another 2,500 men and women. This was the first time that people went to settle, as they supposed permanently, in the New World, as opposed to going out to make a fortune and return. After a while, to the astonishment of his friends, Las Casas went to Rome to be ordained a priest in 1506. He returned and was the first man to give his first mass in the New World.16 In 1510, he went as chaplain to a reinforcement of Spanish soldiers in Cuba to assist the governor there. His presence at the burning of the chief Hatuey perhaps turned his attention to the sufferings of the Indians.17 He took part in the subjugation of central Cuba: “I do not remember with how much spilling of blood he marked that road,” Las Casas later wrote of his commander, Pánfilo de Narváez.18 But though these experiences distressed him, his protest was delayed. For a year or two, priest or no, he managed an estate, presumably an encomienda, on the river Arimao near Cienfugos in Cuba. Las Casas maintained a fish farm. But in 1514, he renounced this property, preached passionately to his neighbours, on Whit Sunday, much as Montesinos had preached in Santo Domingo, returned to Spain, and devoted his life thereafter to the sufferings of the Indians.19


The King saw Las Casas in Plasencia, where he had gone for the marriage of a bastard granddaughter. He promised to help Las Casas when he reached Seville. But Ferdinand was not put to the test. He died in a farmhouse before he attained his destination. Las Casas went next to see the Regent, the octogenarian Cardinal Archbishop of Toledo, Ximénez de Cisneros. Cisneros would remain Regent for two and a half years, until the arrival in September 1518 of the late King’s young Flemish grandson, who would become eventually the great Emperor Charles V, but was, for the time being, merely the improbable young Charles I, King of Spain. Because of the survival of his mother, Juana, Charles had an uncertain claim to the royal dignity.20


Ximénez de Cisneros, reformer of the Spanish Franciscans, inspiration of the first polyglot Bible, founder of the University of Alcalá de Henares, patron of the arts (especially in the cathedral of Toledo), inquisitor-general, and commander-in-chief of a North African expedition in 1509, was one of the greatest men of his age.21 Las Casas once asked with what justice could the enslavement of the Indians be accepted. “With no justice,” Cisneros fiercely answered, “for are they not free? Who can doubt that they are free men?”22 Yet for all his wish to be kind to Indians, Cisneros had been the hammer of the Moors. Nor, like the great Isabel, his benefactress, was he tolerant of Jews.


Las Casas presented a powerful memorandum to Cisneros. He suggested that the Indians in Hispaniola should be asked to work for wages, not as slaves. They should be gathered into new villages and provided with churches and hospitals. Castilian farmers rather than adventurers should be encouraged as settlers. Each new farm would take under its wing a prescribed number of Indians, who would be instructed in European agriculture. A third only of the Indians between twenty-five and forty-five should at any one time work for the Castilians; then only for two months and at no more than sixty miles from home.


Fortresses would be established three hundred miles apart along the north coast of South America. Their purpose would be to act as centres of peaceful trade, comparable to the places which the Portuguese had set up in Africa. Each would have allocated to it a bishop, supported by friars. A special colony, Las Casas imaginatively proposed, should be set up at Cumaná in Venezuela to be staffed by a new knightly order, the “knights of the golden spur”, on the model of the old orders of Santiago or Alcántara. They would trade with the Indians. Further entradas, expeditions, into the hinterland of Indian territory would be prohibited. Finally, the slave trade in Indians in the Caribbean would be ended. If slaves were needed – this was a suggestion which Las Casas later regretted – they should be brought from Africa.23 Cisneros was convinced. At eighty, he was easier to impress with ideas than are most men of thirty.


Cisneros sent out three Jeronymite friars – Fr. Luis de Figueroa, Fr. Bernardino de Manzanedo and Fr. Alonso de Santo Domingo – to Hispaniola to act as commissioners (comisarios) in the place of Diego Colón (to these three, Fr. Juan de Salvatierra was later added). The Cardinal never had any doubts about the benefits of churchmen in power, though the Jeronymites, after several generations of growing influence since their foundation at the end of the fourteenth century, had been somewhat shaken by the discovery that they had been penetrated by Jewry. Cisneros chose the order to avoid making trouble between the Franciscans and the Dominicans; Las Casas chose the men. As “religious persons in whom there could be no spirit of greed”,24 the priors were to carry out a full investigation of the Indian problem, to seek to end the system of encomienda, and to explore the idea of Indian self-government. Alonso de Zuazo, a fair-minded judge from Segovia (or near it), was to carry out a judicial enquiry (residencia) into what had occurred in recent years.25


The priors arrived in December 1516, Zuazo in April 1517. All five worked hard. They visited the mines and the villages, which they found sadly empty: Zuazo wrote that, unless something were done, in a few years there would be nobody left. There were already as “few [natives] as grapes after a harvest”.26 The priors asked questions.27 Their first report was that the island lacked both Indians and Spaniards. Their second echoed, strongly, Las Casas’ demand for African slaves.28 They believed that sugar, cotton, lumber and cassia might substitute for gold as an export. Wives, suggested Zuazo, were also needed for the Spanish settlers. Only thus would the colonists feel that they had a home there. The islands should be treated as if they were the Azores or Madeira: permanent places of residence. Immigration should be unlimited. People should be encouraged to come from everywhere in Spain, not from just the “needle’s eye of Seville”.29


Of these men, the strongest character, and the noblest man, was the judge Zuazo. He was brave, imaginative and, at least at that stage of his life, honest. Fr. Luis de Figueroa turned out to be as ambitious as any Aragonese civil servant. Fr. Santo Domingo and Fr. Salvatierra were old, grey and weak. Fr. Manzanedo was well intentioned and eloquent, but as ineffective as he was ugly. None of them knew how to behave when faced, so far from home, with brutal adventurers, insolent colonists and dying Indians. They longed to return to their fashionable monasteries in Castile. They even received praise from the corrupt treasurer, Miguel de Pasamonte, who had survived every change in Santo Domingo for ten years.30 No condemnation could have been more damning. They only found one Indian in the whole of Hispaniola whom they defined as “ready for liberty”. The rest were to be gathered into villages or towns under Spanish administrators and priests. Las Casas had come back to Hispaniola as “protector of the Indians”. But he had quarrelled with his protégés and returned to Spain to denounce them. His ideas of reform were undercut by the continuing fall of the population. There was almost nothing which anyone could do by then.31 In August 1518 the new king removed judicial questions from the control of the priors. In December he would transfer all their authority to a judge, Rodrigo de Figueroa, one of whose tasks was to carry out an enquiry. Power passed to him formally in December 1518. But he did not arrive in Santo Domingo till August of the next year. Till then, theocracy struggled on.32 Conquistadors continued to come out from Spain. But they looked after cattle with little help from the Indians.


*


Of the other Spanish rulers in the Caribbean, the outstanding man was Diego Velázquez, the Caudillo (leader) of Cuba. He was a fair-haired giant, with an amiable face, turning to fat.33 He came from a noble family long established at Cuéllar, an old city in Castile lying halfway between Valladolid and Segovia. The door of his family’s later ramshackle palace could until recently still be seen in the steep Calle San Pedro running down from the main square. Cuéllar lay in the shadow of the castle of Albuquerque. That colossal pile was the seat of the famous Beltrán de la Cueva, Duke of Albuquerque, the favourite of Enrique IV, to whom the town, previously royal, had been presented about the time of Diego Velázquez’s birth in 1464. Among Diego’s brothers, Antón had followed him to Cuba; Cristóbal was captain of the Castilian militia; and a third, Juan, was also a conquistador in the Caribbean. A cousin, another Juan Velázquez, having been treasurer to the now dead Infante Juan, was at this time one of the two chief accountants, contadores mayores, of Castile (Iñigo de Loyola had been brought up in his house in Arévalo, of which city he was governor). Another cousin, Sancho Velázquez de Cuéllar, had been a member of the first national council of the Inquisition in 1484.34


Diego Velazquez’s home city, Cuéllar, was famous in the 1470s, when the Governor had been a boy, for a rabbi whose eloquence drew not only Jews but old Christians to his sermons in the synagogue. Cuéllar, today seemingly remote, was, in the late fifteenth century, close to the centre of many complicated political negotiations. It was a day’s ride from Segovia, the favourite city of Enrique IV. Arévalo, the childhood home of Queen Isabel, was no distance. The great battles of the time had been fought nearby: at Valladolid, Torquemada and Olmedo.35


Diego Velázquez probably served in the Granada campaigns in the 1480s. From them he emerged “poor and ill”.36 Then, at the age of twenty-eight, he accompanied Columbus on his second voyage in 1493.37 He became a member of the household of the Admiral’s brother, Bartolomé Colón. Before long, he was one of the richest men in Hispaniola. Ovando, the Governor, and a man on whom Velázquez later modelled himself, named him his lieutenant in the wars against the Indians in the west. He was one of the two captains in charge of the disgraceful massacre of Xaragua in 1503. Ovando made him Governor of all the “cities” of western Hispaniola: poor places, with wooden houses with straw roofs, roads of mud, and wooden churches and makeshift town halls.38


From west Hispaniola it was an easy step to Cuba. The ostensible reason for the Spanish invasion of it was that Hatuey, a chief in Hispaniola, had fled there after Xaragua. In 1511, some weeks before Fr. Montesinos’ famous sermon, Velázquez assembled about three hundred and thirty conquistadors, with some supporting Indians, at the little port of Salvatierra de la Sabana. They crossed the strait now known as the Windward Passage. Velázquez established himself at Baracoa – Nuestra Señora de la Asunción, as he renamed it – at the far east end of Cuba.39


Cuba was less populated than Hispaniola, even though it was far larger. The Tainos who lived there were, however, related to those of that first Spanish outpost, whose ball games, customs and language they shared. Like the people of Hispaniola, their staple crop was cassava. But their tree-covered plains were less suited to extensive cultivation with the digging stick than was Hispaniola. Their main food was green turtle, caught by suckerfish, sometimes held till needed in large corrals (similar to that once owned by Las Casas on the river Arimao). The natives also hunted, in the forests of mahogany and tropical cedar, innumerable parrots, doves and pigeons. According to Las Casas, one could then walk the entire length of the island (1,000 miles) under trees. Certainly, at that time four-fifths of the island was covered by jungle.40


The Cubans offered little resistance to the Spanish: the only chief who did so was that same Hatuey who had fled from Santo Domingo. He is said to have refused baptism before being burned alive. Had he agreed to become a Christian, he would merely have been executed with a sword. But he was told that, if that were to happen, he would spend eternity with the Castilians; an eventuality which he wished to avoid.41


The conquest of Cuba was carried through thoroughly. Velázquez’s chief lieutenant was Pánfilo de Narváez, a near neighbour of his in Castile. He came from Navalmanzano, fifteen miles south of Cuéllar, on the way to Segovia. He had played a part in the conquest of Jamaica. Now he slashed his way with fifteen crossbowmen and a few arquebusiers across the southern part of the island. The people fled and neglected cultivation.42 As in Hispaniola, many native women became associated intimately with the conquerors.


Within a few years Velázquez and his lieutenants had founded seven townships in Cuba, all of which survive – though it would be hard to argue that the firm beginnings laid by Velázquez ensured that.43 In 1518 none of these places had houses of stone, the churches (if there were any) being of wood, with roofs of palm leaves.44 The main city had been, first, Baracoa, on the north side of the far east tip of the island. But the Castilian headquarters soon passed to Santiago de Cuba, a site with a fine harbour on the south coast, and also not far from the easternmost point.


Cuba was first christened “Juana” after the Queen of Spain. But that name soon seemed unfashionable since the Queen was in semi-captivity. So it became “Fernandina” after the King. That designation did not last either – though it was still being used in the 1520s. The island recovered its indigenous name, Cuba, soon after the native population had been destroyed.


Gold was found in Cuba in several streams in the central mountains. For some years, there were considerable returns for the settlers near the two new towns of Trinidad and Sancti Spiritus. The local population, overworked and leaderless, followed that of Hispaniola into unpitied extinction.


Despite his role in the massacre at Xaragua, and the burning of Hatuey, Velázquez was far from being the most brutal of the conquistadors. Indeed, one witness at a later enquiry into his actions, a Basque shipmaster, Juan Bono de Quejo, testified that he was a good Christian as well as a good servant of their Majesties, who treated his Indians well.45 Though concerned to make Cuba prosperous, he had resisted a division of the Indians in Cuba into encomiendas along the lines of what had happened in Hispaniola until it seemed that there was no alternative. He thereafter did what he could to limit the size of encomiendas to two hundred Indians. He had, Las Casas admitted, a happy temperament. His talk was all about pleasure. Conversation with him had the style of banter between undisciplined youths. He enjoyed banquets.46 Although he had a bad temper, he was not vindictive. He pardoned most things once his angry mood had passed.47 All the same, he was proud of his family (though he had no children), and he knew how to maintain his dignity if it were necessary.


The tropics had become home for Velázquez. He was by 1518 accustomed to the local foods: green turtle, cassava bread, cotora birds, iguana. He owned or had interests in ten haciendas in different parts of the island, some of which he held in association with the well-known Genoese merchants of Seville, Juan Francisco de Grimaldo and Gaspar Centurión.48 He remained on good terms, by means of letters, with the authorities in Spain. They in turn looked on him favourably, as a counterweight to Diego Colón, whom they were always seeking to make uncomfortable; and to whom Velázquez was both indebted and disloyal.


Velázquez’s wife, his cousin María del Cuéllar, had died in Baracoa in 1512 soon after their wedding. It was said thereafter that the Governor aspired to marry one of the nieces of the powerful Bishop of Burgos, Juan Rodríguez de Fonseca. The idea was just a tropical tease: the sort of fancy with which the Governor would entertain his friends in the evenings in his improvised palace as to what he would do when he returned to Castile: which everyone knew that he never would. (Both the Bishop’s nieces, María and Mayor, had anyway married.)


These discussions in Santiago had the character of a tertulia. The Spaniards would smoke tobacco: the first Europeans, perhaps, to take full advantage of the charms of that famous Cuban product (the Spanish colonists began to cultivate tobacco themselves about 1520).49 Present often would be the Governor’s cousin, Antonio Velázquez Borrego, though he left in 1516 for Spain as procurador general, or representative of the colony. There would be other cousins and nephews from the huge Velázquez clan: Juan, another Diego, another Antonio, and Bernardino, all men born in far-off Cuéllar, their memories full of stories of when that city had been so close to the court of Spain. There would be the Governor’s father-in-law, Cristóbal de Cuéllar, the treasurer of Cuba, who was known to be a little slow about handing over the King’s share of Cuban gold, but who had interesting tales of the days when he had been cupbearer to the long-dead Infante Don Juan (said to have died from excessive lovemaking in the first months of his marriage).50 Cuéllar, who had come to the Indies as chief accountant to Ovando (another sometime member of the Infante’s circle) in 1502, was wont to say that his service to that prince, in a brilliant and self-indulgent circle, was something which would give him “two or three tumbles in hell at the right time”.51 Perhaps he explained why that court had been so especially friendly to Columbus, both before and after his first voyage. There would be Velázquez’s secretary, Andrés de Duero, a tiny man from Tudela del Duero, a small town on the Cuéllar side of Valladolid, and his accountant, Amador de Lares, a native of Burgos who was shrewd if illiterate. The former was usually silent; the latter talkative and astute. He too would hold the floor with stories – of the years when he had been steward (maestresala) to the “Great Captain”, Gonzalo Hernández de Córdoba, in Italy.52 Another member of Velázquez’s tropical court was Manuel de Rojas, also a Cuellerano, married to Velázquez’s niece Magdalena, and brother of that Gabriel de Rojas who would one day be famous in Peru (Rojas had lived practically next door to the Velázquez family in Cuéllar).53 The Governor’s jester, Francisco Cervantes, would say provocative things or quote lines from romances in a disconcertingly appropriate manner. Velázquez himself might recall the time when he had ridden over to Seville from Granada to take part in Columbus’ second voyage. He surely talked sometimes of what it had been like to work with the Admiral, as Columbus always called himself. Sometimes at the tertulia there would no doubt be an ex-secretary of the Governor, the magistrate of Santiago, an obsequious, clever and unpredictable settler from Medellín, in Extremadura: Hernán (or Hernando) Cortés, who had made money from gold on the Duabán river.


The native population in Cuba was meantime declining as fast as that of Hispaniola. Only about fifteen settlers had more than a hundred Indians, but for the moment there were servants enough.54 Amador de Lares had begun to bring in a few black slaves from Africa to compensate for the shortage.55 Wine, olive oil, flour, vinegar, and leather shoes, even satin and damask, would come in shipments from Seville, making money for merchants of that city or of Burgos, and for the Governor too, since he owned the best shop in Santiago.56 (Actually Velázquez did not legally hold the title of Governor: he remained Diego Colón’s lieutenant governor for the island of Cuba, and the distributor (repartidor) of Indians there: a junior status which he was in constant hope of changing.)


Second in importance among the Caribbean rulers in 1518 was Francisco de Garay, the Basque Caudillo in Jamaica, an island which for a time was known by the name of “Santiago”.57 Like Velázquez, Garay had also come to the Indies from Spain (in fact as a notary) with Columbus in 1493. He became even closer to Columbus than Velázquez had done, for he married the Admiral’s sister-in-law, Ana Muñiz.58 Also like Velázquez, Garay made himself rich in Hispaniola: an Indian woman in his employment, resting for lunch, had found, on the side of the River Ozama, a big lump of gold weighing thirty-five pounds. That led Garay to found the so-called New Mines, which he and an Aragonese friend, Miguel Díez de Aux, cleverly exploited. The undertaking made both rich. Garay was still the only man, apart from officials, to have a house of stone in Santo Domingo.59


After a few years, Garay became restless. Most conquistadors liked variety. He tried, therefore, to capture – or, as he put it, “discover the secret of” – the island of Guadalupe (Columbus had firstly discovered and so named it, just as he had given names to most of the Lesser Antilles). But Garay was repelled by Caribs, who were better fighters than the Tainos. He then traded pearls. Some years later, he was named Governor of Jamaica, to succeed Juan de Esquivel, the first Spanish caudillo there.60 Esquivel had built two towns, Santa Gloria and Sevilla la Nueva, but allowed imported livestock to run wild all over the island. Once more, the native agriculture was ruined. By the time that Garay went to Jamaica in 1515, the population had already begun the major decline which marked the other islands of the Spanish empire. Though Peter Martyr regarded him as “the best of the governors of the New World”, and though Las Casas conceded that he was “an honourable man”, Garay was not the man to reverse this decline. Probably it was by then impossible. He too built two towns, Melilla and Oristán, he pioneered the eating of potatoes, and he lived an idyllic existence on an island which still seemed “Elysian”.61


Puerto Rico need not delay us long. The first conquistador had been that brave and swashbuckling bully, Juan Ponce de León, who had also come out as a “gentleman” in 1493 with Columbus.62 As with others on that expedition, noble birth and experience in fighting against Granada did not prevent him from being preoccupied by money. He and Esquivel (later Governor of Jamaica) conquered east Hispaniola. Ovando then permitted Ponce de León to establish a property there, at Salvación de Higuey. Ships passing bound for Spain would stop at his harbour to buy cassava bread. He crossed the narrow Mona Passage to Puerto Rico in 1508. He was initially well received by the naturales. The subsequent conquest was simple, marked by the achievements of his dog Becerillo, who, with his terrifying red hair and black eyes, became renowned for his skill in distinguishing by smell between friendly and enemy Indians.63
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